
The City Bridge Trust Committee

Date: FRIDAY, 7 SEPTEMBER 2018
Time: 1.45 pm
Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, 2ND FLOOR, WEST WING, GUILDHALL

Members: Alderman Alison Gowman (Chairman)
Dhruv Patel OBE (Deputy Chairman)
Karina Dostalova
Simon Duckworth
Peter Dunphy
Marianne Fredericks
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark
Alderman Alastair King
Deputy Edward Lord
Jeremy Mayhew
Wendy Mead
Paul Martinelli
Ian Seaton
Deputy Dr Giles Shilson
The Rt. Hon. The Lord Mayor (Ex-Officio Member)

Enquiries: Joseph Anstee 
tel. no.: 020 7332 1480
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Next Meetings:   24 October 2018      14 November 2018       31 January 2019
(Away Half-Day)

N.B. Part of this meeting may be subject to audio-visual recording. 

Lunch will be served in the Guildhall Club at 1.00pm. 

John Barradell
Town Clerk

Public Document Pack



AGENDA

Part 1 - Public Agenda

1. APOLOGIES

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

3. MINUTES
To agree the minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 6 July 2018.

For Decision
(Pages 1 - 12)

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS
Report of the Town Clerk.

For Information
(Pages 13 - 14)

5. PROGRESS REPORT
Report of the Chief Grants Officer and Director of City Bridge Trust (CGO).

For Decision
(Pages 15 - 24)

6. FINANCIAL POSITION OF CITY BRIDGE TRUST IN RESPECT OF PERIODS 1-4 
(APRIL-JULY 2018)
Report of the Chief Grants Officer and Director of City Bridge Trust (CGO).

For Information
(Pages 25 - 28)

7. GRANTS BUDGET AND APPLICATIONS TODAY
Report of the Chief Grants Officer and Director of City Bridge Trust (CGO).

For Information
(Pages 29 - 32)

8. GRANTS ANALYSIS, TRENDS AND MANAGEMENT
Report of the Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust (CGO).

For Information
(Pages 33 - 38)



3

9. GRANTS AND STRATEGIC INITIATIVES RECOMMENDATIONS AND 
ASSESSMENTS
To consider the Chief Grants Officer’s reports on grant recommendations as follows: -

Index of Grant Recommendations (Pages 39 - 40)

a) Barnet Refugee Service (Pages 41 - 42) 

b) Beat (Pages 43 - 46) 

c) Passage 2000 (Pages 47 - 48) 

d) Bishop Creighton House (Pages 49 - 50)

e) Disablement Association Hillingdon (DASH) (Pages 51 - 52) 

f) icandance (Pages 53 - 54) 

g) MENCAP Bromley (Pages 55 - 58) 

h) Ragged School Museum Trust (Pages 59 - 60)

i) Age UK Hillingdon (Pages 61 - 62) 

j) Dementia Concern (Pages 63 - 64)

k) Live Music Now! (Pages 65 - 66) 

l) City Harvest (Pages 67 - 68)

m) Hounslow Citizens Advice Bureau (Pages 69 - 70) 

n) Youth Legal and Resource Centre (Pages 71 - 72)

o) Clink Charity (Pages 73 - 74) 

p) Volunteer Centre Greenwich (Pages 75 - 78) 

10. TO CONSIDER REPORTS OF THE CHIEF GRANTS OFFICER AS FOLLOWS: -

For Decision/Information

a) Funder Plus Offer - Proposals for Phase 1 (Pages 79 - 92) 

b) Applications Recommended for Rejection (Pages 93 - 102)

c) Applications to the Cornerstone Fund, Stage 1 (Pages 103 - 112)

d) Funds Approved under Delegated Authority (Pages 113 - 114) 



e) Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications (Pages 115 - 118) 

f) Variations to Grants/Funds Awarded (Pages 119 - 120)

g) Monitoring Reports for Strategic Initiatives (Pages 121 - 140)

h) Report on Learning Visits (Pages 141 - 146) 

i) City Bridge Trust Communications & Events Attended (Pages 147 - 158) 

11. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

12. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS TO BE URGENT

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
MOTION – That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda

14. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES
To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 6 July 2018.

For Decision
(Pages 159 - 162)

15. MEMBERS' SKILLS AUDIT
Report of the Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust (CGO).

For Information
(Pages 163 - 172)

16. PIPELINE OF PRO-ACTIVE STRATEGIC GRANTS
Report of the Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust (CGO).

For Information
(Pages 173 - 176)

17. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE

18. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED



THE CITY BRIDGE TRUST COMMITTEE

Friday, 6 July 2018 

Minutes of the meeting of The City Bridge Trust Committee held at the 
Guildhall EC2 at 1.45 pm

Present

Members:
Alderman Alison Gowman (Chairman)
Dhruv Patel OBE (Deputy Chairman)
Karina Dostalova
Peter Dunphy

Alderman Alastair King
Paul Martinelli
Ian Seaton

Officers:
Joseph Anstee - Town Clerk's Department
Karen Atkinson - Chamberlain's Department
Anne Pietsch - Comptroller and City Solicitor's Department
David Farnsworth - Chief Grants Officer
Sufina Ahmad - The City Bridge Trust
Sandra Davidson - The City Bridge Trust
Jenny Field - The City Bridge Trust
Becky Green - The City Bridge Trust
Julia Mirkin - The City Bridge Trust
Kate Moralee - The City Bridge Trust
Fiona Rawes - Town Clerk's Department
Ciaran Rafferty - The City Bridge Trust
Shegufta Rahman - The City Bridge Trust
Tim Wilson - The City Bridge Trust

1. APOLOGIES 
Apologies were received from Simon Duckworth, Marianne Fredericks, Deputy 
Jamie Ingham Clark, Deputy Edward Lord, Jeremy Mayhew, Wendy Mead and 
Deputy Dr Giles Shilson.

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
The Chairman declared an interest in respect of Item 11d by virtue of being a 
trustee of Trust for London, and would take no part in the discussion of the 
item.

3. MINUTES 
RESOLVED – That the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting 
held on 2 May 2018 be agreed as an accurate record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Matters Arising

The Committee was advised that the grant approved for Women for Women 
Refugees at the Committee’s March meeting had now been made, after an 
issue raised by a Member had been fully resolved in consultation with the 
Chairman and Deputy Chairman.

The Committee noted that the Responsible Business Strategy and the 
Philanthropy Strategy considered by the Committee at the previous meeting 
had subsequently been approved by the Policy & Resources Committee.

It was noted that attendance at the committee was low due to a clash with the 
Resource Allocation Sub-Committee Away Day. The Chairman expressed her 
displeasure at the clash and impressed upon the Town Clerk that such clashes 
should be managed better in the diary.  As a result, all future dates should be 
noted on the front page of the committee agenda.

4. BARNARDO'S 
The Committee welcomed Ben Banks and Serrina Lobban, representatives of 
Barnardo’s to the meeting, to speak to the Committee about the Stop It Before 
It Starts project, an early intervention Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) service 
part-funded by City Bridge Trust. The service was being pioneered in three 
London boroughs each with a different focus, aiming to raise awareness of 
CSE amongst a number of groups. The service used early intervention 
workshops and direct one-to-one work to empower young people and equip 
them to feel safe. A number of voluntary and community groups had engaged 
in the workshops. Group work sessions were also delivered in co-operation with 
organisations that worked with children, and Parent and Carer sessions were 
also delivered in schools.

The service covered areas around CSE such as grooming, the internet and law 
with discussion and conversations. When the service began in 2016, referrals 
for boys and young men were low, and vulnerability factors were clearer with 
girls. This was a gap that the service aimed to overcome with the right focus, 
including alternative provisions for boys.

Whilst young people had found the project intimidating at first, they eventually 
relaxed and often overcame their fears. The majority of young boys who were 
referred actively engaged with the service, although there was still some 
resistance. However, the service was having a positive impact and Barnardo’s 
would continue to raise its profile, and increase communication and awareness 
of CSE issues.

The focus for each borough was devised through conversations with local 
authority leads in each area that identified gaps in the current service provision. 
For example, the focus on boys and young men in Hackney was due to the 
higher number of referrals in the other two boroughs. Barnardo’s was involved 
in over forty CSE services across the UK, and one of the biggest barriers they 
faced was local authority engagement where it was needed. Often perceptions 
of CSE needed to be challenged as they were unhelpful, and this linked in with 

Page 2



the purpose of the project; that having conversations could encourage 
confidence and weaken stereotypes. Barnardo’s had also acted as advocates 
at Multi Agency Sexual Exploitation (MASE) meetings which had enabled them 
to raise their agenda with professionals, which had proved very helpful.

The Committee thanked Serrina and Ben for their excellent presentation and for 
attending the meeting.

5. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
RESOLVED – That the Outstanding Actions update be noted.

6. PROGRESS REPORT 
The Committee received the regular progress report of the Chief Grants Officer 
and Director of City Bridge Trust (CGO) and discussed the updates provided.

CGO Visit to New York accompanying the Lord Mayor

The CGO informed the Committee that he had visited several organisations, 
including the Robin Hood Foundation and The New York Foundling Exhibition, 
during the trip to inform connections and partnerships with relevant London 
areas of activity

Appointments to BBC Children in Need London & SE Grants Committee

The Committee noted that two CBT grants officers had been appointed to the 
Children in Need Grants Committee for London and the South East, joining 
Bridge to Work Project Manager James Lee who was expected to take up the 
role of Chairman at its next meeting.

The Committee noted upcoming CBT dates including the strategic away half-
day on 24 October and the Committee dinner on 8 November. A Bridging 
Divides briefing for all Members to assist awareness of applying for grants 
would be arranged for a date in October.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

7. CORPORATE VOLUNTEERING STRATEGY 2018-2023 
The Committee received a report of the Head of Corporate Strategy and 
Performance, presenting the proposed final version of the Corporate 
Volunteering Strategy 2018-2023.

Feedback from Members was welcomed before the strategy was presented to 
the Policy & Resources Committee for approval. The strategy was designed in 
collaboration with all relevant departments and set out a vision for a positive 
volunteering culture, with clear and consistent practices that valued and 
supported the work and contributions of all City of London Corporation 
volunteers, including its elected and co-opted Members. The strategy would fit 
in well with the City Bridge Trust’s total asset approach under the Bridging 
Divides strategy.

Page 3



RESOLVED – That the City Bridge Trust Committee:

i. Note the report; and

ii. Note the content of the Corporate Volunteering Strategy at Appendix 1.

8. INVESTING IN LONDONERS STATISTICAL REPORT 
The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer and Director of 
City Bridge Trust (CGO) providing statistical analysis of grant applications 
received under your Investing in Londoner’s grants scheme which ran from 
September 2013 until April 2018.

The average success rate of applicants, at 50%, compared favourably to other 
funders and was higher than CBT’s previous 5-year grants programmes, and 
the themes of the programme were well-established. The Committee noted the 
tables detailing grant awards by geographical location and highlighted areas 
where future work could be concentrated. The Committee noted that a number 
of applications were awaiting assessment and would be completed by October, 
but trends would remain the same.

As the programme had been a success, Members suggested that the key 
messages could be publicised more widely via the City of London Corporation’s 
website and other literature, or could be presented on social media via an 
infographic. It was positive that areas requiring more work had been identified. 
Various projects to build capacity in certain areas had been initiated. Outreach 
work with local authorities was planned as part of the Bridging Divides strategy 
and an update could be brought back to the Committee in six months.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

9. RESETTLEMENT AND REHABILITATION OF OFFENDERS 
The Committee received a report of the CGO informing of the progress of the 
City Bridge Trust’s funding towards projects working with ex-offenders, and 
providing an update on the criminal justice voluntary sector.

The report set out the challenges faced by the prison sector, as well as the 
organisations worked with by the City Bridge Trust and outcomes, also 
highlighting additional areas of focus. The Committee noted that there was a 
significant amount of work ongoing. A number of Livery companies were also 
supporting organisations in the sector, and Members suggested that a 
collective meeting could be beneficial.

In response to a query from a Member, the CGO clarified that the main aim for 
the Ideas Please mechanism was to allow organisations to approach the City 
Bridge Trust to raise issues or ask questions to help identify funding gaps or 
flag landscape changes. If an idea that came in from a charity went forward it 
could become a City Bridge Trust strategic initiative. The deadline for Ideas 
Please had been set for 27 July, and submissions would be considered after 
this date.

Page 4



RESOLVED – That the City Bridge Trust Committee:

a) Note the report;

b) Continue with the approach; and

c) Note that a future focus of the “Ideas Please” or Strategic Initiative 
mechanisms could be on related work with families; BAME communities; 
young adults, and/or early action work.

10. GRANT BUDGET AND APPLICATIONS TODAY 
The Committee received a report of the CGO and Director of City Bridge Trust 
summarising grant applications recommended for decision at the meeting, and 
those that had been considered since the last meeting under the schemes of 
delegation.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

11. GRANTS ANALYSIS, TRENDS AND MANAGEMENT 
The Committee received a report of the CGO and Director of City Bridge Trust 
providing an update on progress against the 2018/19 grants budgets and 
summarising grants awarded and in management.

The Committee noted two corrections to the report. The total grant amount 
awarded through Strategic Initiatives was £430,400, rather than the £230,400 
stated, and forty Bridging Divides applications rather than three as stated in the 
report. The first Bridging Divides applications would be considered at the 
September meeting.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

12. GRANTS AND STRATEGIC INITIATIVES RECOMMENDATIONS AND 
ASSESSMENTS 
The Chairman proposed that from September, the annex circulated to Members 
containing the application forms of grants under consideration at the meeting 
be made electronic only, as Bridging Divides applications forms were twice as 
long as current application forms. Rejected application forms were also 
delivered in hard copy to the Members Room for information, and these could 
also be made electronic only, with hard copies of either available on request. 
Committee Members were in favour of this change.

a) Prisoners Abroad 

RESOLVED – That the City Bridge Trust Committee approve a grant of 
£233,300 over one year for the continuation of the Prisoners Abroad 
resettlement fund supporting destitute British citizens returning to London after 
imprisonment overseas. 

Page 5



b) Cranfield Trust 

RESOLVED – That the City Bridge Trust Committee agree a grant of £68,400 
over six months to Cranfield Trust to provide up to 32 London-based charities 
with management consultancy support through its “Strive” programme, 
conditional on a satisfactory review of the Cranfield Trust’s financial forecast for 
2018-19.

c) Ealing CVS 

APPROVED £60,000 over two years (2 x £30,000) towards the salary and 
associated running costs of a Development Officer to develop Hounslow Giving 
as part of the London’s Giving network, with any grant to be received by Ealing 
CVS.

At this point, the Deputy Chairman assumed the Chair, as the Chairman did not 
participate in the discussion of the next item.

d) Trust for London 

RESOLVED – That the City Bridge Trust Committee agree a grant of £300,000 
over three years to Trust for London to establish a joint fund to support the 
extension and sustainability of Deaf and Disabled People’s Organisations 
(DDPOs) in providing access to advice, support and voice for disabled 
Londoners.

e) Refugee Action Kingston 

APPROVED £141,850 over three years (£46,120; £48,940, £46,790) towards 
the salary costs of the Education and Training Centre Manager (21 hpw) and 
ESOL Coordinator (14 hpw) and running costs of a programme of ESOL 
classes, discussion groups (6 per year) and public services workshops (6 per 
year). In the event that other funding is secured towards this project then the 
sum recommended will be amended accordingly.

f) Roots and Shoots 

APPROVED £120,200 over three years (£39,300; £40,000; £40,900) for the 
part-time salaries of the Environmental Education Manager (21 hpw) and 
Gardener Educator (14 hpw)

g) Stepney City Farm Ltd 

A Member queried the amount set out in the annex of £125,194 of funding 
received by the organisation from London local authorities in one year. The 
CGO responded that this could be a misprint and would be verified.

APPROVED £45,600 for one year for the salary costs of the f/t CEO to provide 
strategic leadership and successful expansion of the site ensuring sustainability 
of the organisation.

Page 6



h) CHANCE UK 

APPROVED £91,000 over 3 years (£27,700; £30,300; £33,000) towards the 
salary of a f/t Programme Manager to deliver a mentoring programme and 
parenting support for children aged 5-11 in Lambeth. Funding for the third year 
of the project is conditional on sufficient funds being raised to make the project 
viable.

i) Metro Centre Limited 

APPROVED £83,400 over two further and final years (£41,600; £41,800) for a 
part-time (3.5 dpw) Service Co-ordinator and associated running costs of a 
project supporting young LGBTQ Londoners.

j) Spear Housing Association Ltd 

The Committee noted the revised request reflected in the recommendation, for 
incremental expansion of the Peer Support and User Involvement programme 
with increased targets and costs.

APPROVED £92,500 over three years (£13,350; £34,150; £45,000) for the 
salary and on-costs of the p/t (30 hpw) Peer Support Worker, training, activities, 
line management and additional costs associated with an incremental 
expansion of the Peer Support and User Involvement programme.

k) Spitalfields Crypt Trust 

APPROVED £138,000 over three years (£44,800; £46,000; £47,200) for the 
salary of a full-time Addiction Counsellor (35 hpw) and associated project costs.

l) Equal People Mencap 

APPROVED £101,000 over two years (£52,600; £48,400) for the salary of the 
PT (4 dpw) Project Coordinator and associated project costs.

m) Holborn Community Association 

APPROVED £100,000 for the costs of the accessible elements of the wider 
refurbishment including: a new entrance, installation of a passenger lift, 
provision of a hearing loop and the modifying of kitchen and reception areas. 
Funding is conditional on the balance required for the project being raised.

n) One-To-One (Enfield) 

The Committee noted that the amount recommended was slightly reduced from 
the amount requested, as savings within elements of the budget, including core 
costs, had been identified during assessment.

Page 7



APPROVED £145,800 over three years (£47,300; £48,500; £50,000) towards 
several staff salaries, sessional staff and associated project costs.

o) Vineyard Congregational Church 

A Member asked how grant applications for capital expenditure were monitored 
to ensure that the proposal retained wider community benefit longer-term, as 
grant applications for proposals for the benefit of only a specific group, such as 
a religious group, would be rejected.

The CGO responded that officers would assess the focus of the funding and 
look closely at the application. Following a grant’s approval, during the 
implementation stage, payments were released after receipt of documentary 
evidence of its expenditure. A twelve-month period after the improvements 
were made was given for the organisation to collect data and report back to 
City Bridge Trust, and details about the wider community benefit of the 
improvements would be expected at that stage. The Comptroller and City 
Solicitor added that there were provisions in the terms and conditions that 
allowed City Bridge Trust to take action against misappropriation of grant 
funding.

APPROVED £100,000 to improve the access to both levels of the Vineyard 
Congregational Church providing two new lifts, improved accessible toilet 
facilities, new doors and widened entrances.

p) Age UK Bexley 

APPROVED £90,300 over three years (£35,600; £35,700; £19,000) for the 
posts of Project Co-ordinator (30 hours per week), Service Manager (5 hours 
per week) and associated running costs.

q) Kingston Carers Network 

APPROVED £178,000 over three years (£58,000; £59,000; £61,000) for the 
full-time Outreach Worker (36 hpw); respite activities; workshops; and 
associated running costs of the Older Carers project.

r) London Children's Ballet 

Following a query, the CGO gave details of the longer-term benefits of the 
proposal. The scheme would enable ongoing contact for older isolated people 
across London as the organisation would stay in contact with beneficiaries. The 
performances were oversubscribed and the scheme was welcomed by key 
agencies. 

APPROVED £60,000 over three years (3 x £20,000) towards the Ballet for £1 
and LCB tours for older isolated people across London.

Page 8



s) Bangladesh Youth Movement (BYM) 

APPROVED £70,000 over three years (£24,000; £23,000; £23,000) towards 
the cost of Manage Your Money, and specifically a part-time (16 hours pw) 
Financial Advice Worker, project delivery costs, overheads and once-off 
equipment.

t) Brixton Advice Centre 

The Committee noted the amount recommended had been reduced from the 
amount requested, as the request had included some expenditure that fell 
outside the scope of City Bridge Trust funding.

APPROVED £146,000 over three years (£48,000; £50,000; £48,000) for the p/t 
salary of an Advisor (0.8 FTE) and associated project costs.

u) Cambridge House 

APPROVED £146,500 over three years (£48,100; £49,000; £49,400) for the 
post of Crisis Prevention Navigator, NI, pension, travel cost, subscriptions and 
a 12.5% contribution to core costs. Release of the grant is contingent on 
satisfactory quarterly management accounts until further notice; updates on any 
change to the terms of loans held by CH; and the achievement of overall 
surpluses (after depreciation) in years two and three of the grant.

v) Child Poverty Action Group 

APPROVED £130,000 over 2 years (2 x £65,000) for a f/t Universal Credit 
London Welfare Rights Worker, plus associated project costs including training 
bursaries and UC handbooks for 50 London organisations. Release of the grant 
is subject to receipt of satisfactory quarterly management accounts.

w) Key4Life 

APPROVED £115,000 over three years (£36,000; £38,000; £41,000) towards 
the costs of Key4Life’s ‘through the gate’ work with 18-24 year olds involved in 
the HMP Brixton programme.

x) CVS Brent 

APPROVED £134,800 over three years (£44,900; £43,800, £46,100) for the p/t 
(4dpw) salary of the Monitoring and Evaluation Officer and project running 
costs.

y) London Play 

APPROVED £111,000 over two years (£53,800; £57,200) towards the salary of 
a p/t (2.5dpw) Programme Designer; 1dpw of Head of Communications; costs 
of training playground staff; and related operational and management costs. 
The release of the first quarterly payment is subject to receipt of satisfactory 

Page 9



management accounts to 31 March 2018 and further payments will also be 
subject to receipt of quarterly management accounts.

z) Partnership for Young London 

The Committee noted that the organisation was based in Guildhall, and that two 
Members of the Court of Common Council were on the Board of Trustees. A 
Member suggested that if the organisation paid rent to the City of London 
Corporation then this would need to be declared, and it was agreed that this 
would be clarified.

APPROVED £106,000 over two further and final years (£52,000; £53,500) for 
the costs of the Development Lead (4 days per week); admin support (0.5 days 
per week); and associated running costs. Release of the second quarter of the 
grant will be subject to receipt of compliant accounts for 2017/18.

aa) Pro Bono Economics 

APPROVED £150,000 over three years (£30,000, £50,000, £70,000) for 
associated project costs to support charitable organisations providing services 
for Londoners.

13. TO CONSIDER REPORTS OF THE CHIEF GRANTS OFFICER AS 
FOLLOWS: - 

a) Applications Recommended for Rejection 

The Committee considered a report of the CGO and Director of City Bridge 
Trust detailing 22 grant applications or Eco-Audit requests that were 
recommended for rejection.

RESOLVED – That the Committee reject the grant applications listed in the 
accompanying schedule.

b) Stepping Stones Applications Rejected Under Delegated Authority 

The Committee received a report of the CGO and Director of City Bridge Trust 
outlining a total of 16 Stepping Stones applications rejected under delegated 
authority by the Chief Grants Officer in consultation with a Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman at first stage of application.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

c) Funds Approved under Delegated Authority 

The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which advised 
Members of five expenditure items, totalling £42,240, which had been 
presented for approval under delegated authority to the Chief Grants Officer in 
consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman.

Page 10



RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

d) Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications 

The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which provided 
details of nine applications which had been withdrawn or had lapsed.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

e) Variations to Grants/Funds Awarded 

The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer which advised 
Members of a variation to six grants agreed by the Chief Grants Officer since 
the last meeting. A total sum of £60,455 across approximately fifty grants in 
unused balances had been written back.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

f) Reports on Learning Visits 

The Committee received a report of the Chief Grants Officer about two visits 
that had taken place.

RESOLVED – That the report be received.

g) City Bridge Trust Communications and Events Attended 

The Committee received a report of the CGO and Director of City Bridge Trust 
updating on the communications work of the City Bridge Trust.

RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

14. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE 
There were no questions.

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS TO BE 
URGENT 
There was no other business.

16. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
RESOLVED – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

Item No. Exempt Paragraphs
16 - 18 3
19 - 20 -

Page 11



17. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
RESOLVED – That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 2 May 2018 
be agreed as an accurate record.

18. PHILANTHROPIC HUB 
The Committee considered a report of the CGO and Director of City Bridge 
Trust.

19. PIPELINE OF PRO-ACTIVE STRATEGIC GRANTS 
The Committee received a report of the CGO and Director of City Bridge Trust.

20. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE 
There were no questions.

21. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 
There was no other business.

The meeting closed at 3.10 pm

Chairman

Contact Officer: Joseph Anstee 
tel. no.: 020 7332 1480
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 12



The City Bridge Trust Committee – Outstanding Actions

Item Date Action Officer 
responsible

To be 
completed/ 
progressed 

to next stage
Progress Update

1.
20 
September 
2017

“Task & Finish” group to be 
established to look at how the City 
of London Corporation could be 
the most effective trustee of Bridge 
House Estates

CBT Team 
and Town 
Clerk

September 
2018

 The Task & Finish Group has been 
established and meets regularly

2. 31 January 
2018

Individual Member Skills Audit and 
Committee Effectiveness 
Evaluation

CBT Team 
and Town 
Clerk

September 
2018

Updates and Findings to be brought 
to September 2018 Committee

3. 14 March 
2018 Prince’s Trust CBT Team / 

Town Clerk

Members’ 
Away Half-

day, October 
2018

Prince’s Trust liaison officer to 
present to the Committee on the 
work of the Prince’s Trust

4.  6 July 2018 Philanthropy Strategy Action Plan CBT Team / 
Town Clerk

November 
2018

Philanthropy Strategy Action Plan to 
be brought to CBT for approval 
before going to P&R in November

5. 6 July 2018 Outreach work with targeted 
Boroughs CBT Team September 

2018

Officers to devise a plan for 
outreach work in Boroughs 
identified for concentration of future 
work 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 4



Item Date Action Officer 
responsible

To be 
completed/ 
progressed 

to next stage
Progress Update

6. 6 July 2018 Investing in Londoners CBT Team / 
Town Clerk October 2018

Advertising of the outcomes of the 
Investing in Londoners programme 
to be promoted via social media and 
an infographic

7. 6 July 2018 Resettlement and Rehabilitation of 
Offenders

CBT Team / 
Town Clerk October 2018

Officers to explore arranging a 
collective meeting with Livery 
companies on supporting 
organisations in the Prisons sector.

8.. 6 July 2018 Bridging Divides Member Briefing CBT Team / 
Town Clerk

16 October 
2018

Briefing to be held on 16 October in 
Private Members Dining Room at 
12:15

9. 6 July 2018 Partnership for Young London CBT Team / 
Town Clerk

September 
2018

Links with the City of London 
Corporation and any conflict 
regarding the charity to be 
established

P
age 14



Committee: 
City Bridge Trust (CBT)

Dated: 
7 September 2018

Subject: Progress Report Public

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer (CGO) and Director of CBT

For decision

Summary

This is a regular report by the CGO. You are asked within this report to note updates 
on the following:

 Cornerstone Fund
 Cornerstone Fund evaluation
 Total Assets
 Stepping Stones
 Learning Partner
 Philanthropy Strategy
 Civil Society Strategy 
 Mayor of London’s Young Londoners Fund
 Implementation of Bridging Divides
 HR update
 Islington Giving training young people’s grant panel

Recommendation

a) That the report be noted.
b) To approve non-grant funding from the Cornerstone Fund of up to a 

maximum of £80,000 over two years for a Learning Partner.
c) To agree that any decisions to allocate individual sums for the Mayor’s 

Young Londoner’s Fund prior to your next meeting in November be 
delegated to the Town Clerk in consultation with the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman and to be reported to the subsequent Committee.

Main Report

Introduction
1. You will recall that you have agreed that each of the CBT Committee 

Meetings will begin with a presentation on a particular aspect of the work you 
support.  Rosie Ferguson, CEO of Gingerbread has been invited to this 
committee.  Gingerbread was awarded funds in 2017 to undertake research 
on the needs of single parent families in London and how services could be 
provided to best meet those needs.  This research will be completed in 
November 2018 and will be built on a robust evidence base, amplifying the 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



voices and experiences of single parents most in need, including those more 
disadvantaged families in the capital who Gingerbread haven’t historically 
reached.

Cornerstone Fund
2. As reported at your last meeting, the Cornerstone Fund (the additional funding 

of £3m that was approved to establish a strategic fund for civil society 
infrastructure support of which £2.8m remains) Funders’ Panel1 met on 11th 
July 2018.

3. You may recall this has a two-stage application process.  The panel met to 
discuss the Stage 1 applications and to decide which applications should be 
recommended to receive grants to develop their bid to Stage 2.  The applicant 
will then follow the application process of whichever funder considers a 
particular proposal best aligns with their interests.

4. Of the 21 applications received, only one had completely failed to address the 
published criteria and outcomes.  Of the remaining 20, 11 were considered 
strong enough to go through to Stage 2, one of which does not need a 
development grant.  The remaining 10 will receive grants of up to £20,000 
which have been approved by Delegated Authority2  and are reported 
elsewhere in your papers today.  You will see this report indicates which 
funder is likely to consider which Stage 2 application.

5. Approval of the 10 which were recommended for rejection was made by 
Delegated Authority as well as a schedule of these can also be found 
elsewhere in your papers today.

6. It is anticipated that the Stage 2 applications that are to be recommended for 
funding by City Bridge Trust will be brought to your Committee Meeting either 
in November 2018 or in January 2019.

Cornerstone Fund evaluation
7. The Cornerstone Fund Reference Group and Funders’ Panel proposes that a 

Learning Partner is appointed to work alongside the successful applicants and 
the group of aligned funders over a two-year period, in order gain an 
understanding of ‘what works’ and the extent to which the projects that have 
been supported are scaleable/replicable.  The evaluation will also look at the 
funding model and how the funders have worked together, as well as the 
extent to which the Cornerstone Fund has successfully brought about 
systemic change within how civil society support organisations work.

8. Given the number of days that are likely to be needed for this evaluation, it is 
recommended that you approve non-grant funding from the Cornerstone Fund 
of up to a maximum of £80,000 over two years for a Learning Partner 

1 comprising representatives from Big Lottery Fund, Trust for London, Mercers Company, John Lyons Charity, 
Cripplegate Foundation, Greater London Authority, London Councils and London Funders
2 Decisions on applications of up to £10,000 may be approved by the Chief Grants Officer.  Decisions on 
applications of over £10,000 and up to £25,000 may be approved by the Chief Grants Officer in consultation with 
the Chairman and Deputy Chairman.

Page 16



(Tenders will be invited in the range of £60,000 - £80,000 over two years).  
The Learning Partner would be appointed through the City of London 
Corporation’s standard procurement process.

Total Assets
9. Bridging Divides commits you to using all of the assets, financial and non-

financial, of both CBT and the CoLC (as trustee of the underlying charity) as 
part of CBT’s ‘toolbox’ to support applicant organisations.  Proposals for the 
first phase of a Funder Plus offer are provided separately in your papers today 
and would also form part of the toolbox.

10.Noa Burger, who until July 2018 was Head of Responsible Business within 
the Economic Development Office, is currently working for us in a freelance 
capacity for a fixed number of days to assist us with a number of tasks.  
These include helping us to analyse, categorise and collate what our total 
assets are, including our more ‘unusual’ assets, so that we can make this 
information available both internally and externally in a user-friendly format.

11.Noa is also designing a questionnaire for CBT grantees to explore what areas 
of organisation life they would welcome support with and what barriers or 
obstacles there might be to receiving support.  The feedback will help to 
inform the proposed Phase 1 Funder Plus offer; the total assets offer; as well 
as the CoLC’s employee volunteering offer. 

Stepping Stones
12.City Bridge Trust worked alongside employee volunteers from UBS during 

July to assess applications received through the fifth round of Stepping 
Stones, your social investment readiness grant programme. 35 applications 
were received and 19 were asked to provide full proposals, at levels 
equivalent with previous rounds. Full assessments are ongoing and 
recommendations for both funding and rejection will be put in front of an 
approval panel involving the Chairman, Deputy Chairman, senior UBS 
representative and the Chief Grants Officer at a meeting on 13th September.  
Details of all organisations funded will be provided to your November 
Committee meeting along with proposals to make Stepping Stones a rolling 
programme similar to other City Bridge grant-making in order to improve ease 
of application.

13.Meanwhile, City Bridge Trust and UBS’ Stepping Stones work has been 
shortlisted for a Charity Times award under the social investment category. 
The awards take place in early October and the Trust expects to attend with 
colleagues from UBS who, like us, are delighted to be shortlisted.

Learning Partner
14.We continue to work with Renaisi, our learning partner for the Bridging 

Divides strategy. Renaisi has already held two workshops for the Trust staff 
team and plans to meet Members at your strategy half away-day. The partner 
is preparing several papers which may be of interest to Members, including 
guidance on how best to measure the progress we make towards achieving 
our mission of reduced inequality and stronger communities.

Page 17



Philanthropy Strategy
15.You approved the Philanthropy Strategy at your May meeting and, as it is a 

cross-organisational strategy encompassing both CBT and the CoLC, it was 
subsequently approved by both the Policy and Resources Committee in June 
and by the Court of Common Council in July. 

 
16.You will recall that the Strategy has 3 pillars to achieve its vision to ensure 

that, as a result of higher impact and higher value philanthropy, individuals 
and communities thrive, especially those experiencing disadvantage and 
marginalisation. The pillars are:

a) The CoLC and CBT role model high impact Philanthropy contributing to a 
reduction in inequality and/or an increase in social mobility;

b) Higher impact and/or higher value Philanthropy is generated from others as a 
result of CoLC and CBT’s support for the philanthropic infrastructure;

c) Key audiences are better equipped to generate higher impact and/or higher 
value Philanthropy as a result of CoLC and CBT’s awareness raising activity 
about it. 

 
17.Work is currently underway to build the implementation plan which will come 

to your Committee for review in November 2018.
 

18.Notwithstanding the development of the implementation plan, we have wanted 
to be nimble in identifying and responding to opportunities as they arise. 
Under pillar 2, we therefore secured your support for the ‘Philanthropy House’ 
concept (subject to further clarification on costings and legalities).  As the 
committee is aware, there are also range of events taking place in September 
to reflect the awareness raising focus of pillar 3, namely:

a) the launch of the Centre for London’s Giving Research at the Guildhall on the 
3rd of September with CPR providing the welcoming speech. Fiona Rawes 
and Jenny Field have been on the steering committee for this research in 
which the work of CBT and the CoLC more broadly is warmly credited. 

b) the 3-day Global Donors’ Forum for the World Council of Muslim 
Philanthropists on 10-12 September with an evening reception at the Mansion 
House on 11th September with Alderman Alison Gowman providing the 
welcome as the Lord Mayor’s Aldermanic Representative. An audience of 300 
is expected for the forum and CBT will contribute to 2 sessions; one on 
learning from Grenfell Tower (chaired by Professor Diana Leat, and featuring 
London Funders, Muslim Aid and the Al Manaar Cultural Heritage Centre 
alongside CBT) and the other on social investment learning (chaired by Paul 
Palmer of Cass Business School, and featuring UBS, the Al Zakkat 
Foundation and CBT). 

c) The launch of the CoLC’s own research on barriers and drivers to higher 
impact giving by the Financial and Professional services sector at the 

Page 18



Mansion House on 24th September as a precursor to City Giving Day on the 
25th September. 

19.Pillar 2 envisages funding and other support for the philanthropic 
infrastructure. This sits neatly within the ‘Connecting the Capital’ strand of 
your Bridging Divides Strategy which includes support for infrastructure or 
‘second tier’ organisations. In preparation for ‘philanthropic’ spend within the 
Connecting the Capital strand, we will be working through the detail as part of 
the implementation plan and further developing the website content to reflect 
this philanthropic focus. We will of course keep your Committee appraised of 
the changes. In the meantime, we are staying close to high potential initiatives 
which have been developing over the last year.

Civil Society Strategy 
20.The Government published its Civil Society Strategy on 9 August 2018.  This 

strategy aims to create ‘thriving communities’ through strengthening ‘five 
foundations of social value’.

21. It highlights the vital importance of a thriving, diverse civil society, which 
enriches lives and creates a fairer society for all broadly under the following 
headings:

a) People - The aim here is to give people a sense of control over their future 
and their community, and to support them in taking action on the issues they 
care about.

b) Places - The strategy aims to create places where local communities are 
empowered and take responsibility for where they live. As well as enhancing 
existing opportunities such as community rights, there are some interesting 
new commitments.

c) The social sector – The strategy’s focus is to ensure charities and social 
enterprises are confident about their right to speak up and have a strong role 
in shaping policy.

Page 19

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/732765/Civil_Society_Strategy_-_building_a_future_that_works_for_everyone.pdf


d) The private sector - The strategy seeks to build further initiatives and support 
for responsible businesses, those which put social and environmental 
responsibility at the heart of what they do.

e) The public sector - The aim here is to ensure collaborative commissioning, so 
local players are involved in a meaningful way in creating and delivering 
public services.

Mayor of London’s Young Londoners Fund
22.Your officers have continued to assist the GLA with the processing of 

applications to the Mayor of London’s fund to support young people’s 
activities. James Lee and Jack Joslin have undertaken some online 
assessments whilst Ciaran Rafferty has taken part in a panel at City Hall to 
consider Small Grant applications and, later this year, will also be part of 
panels to review requests for larger grants. Once the Small Grant 
recommendations have been approved by the Mayor’s team those 
organisations will be advised accordingly, with a view to their projects then 
commencing from late October onwards. The projects awarded larger grants 
are scheduled to commence in January 2019.

23.With regard to the £1m provided by the Trust for wrap around support to the 
funded organisations, your officer has been busy in negotiating with the GLA 
and with a range of specialist providers. The Young Londoners Fund will 
support activity over the next three years and your support programme will 
follow the same timeframe so not all of the funds will be allocated 
immediately.

24.Estimates for the allocation of your funds in the first 18 months (Oct 2018 – 
March 2020) are as follows:

Staff Training Courses/Programmes* £120,000
Ongoing counselling/wellbeing support £100,000
Staff/Project networks (via the GLA) £100,000
Support for London Youth Quality Mark £130,000

(* likely to be via more than one provider)

25. It is important at this stage that there is some flexibility in these allocations as 
the detail of need will not be known until all grants for the period are awarded 
by the GLA and a more robust needs analysis can then be undertaken. 
Consequently, it is advised that if any individual sums are to be allocated prior 
to your next meeting in November that approval be delegated to the Town 
Clerk in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman and to be 
reported to the subsequent Committee.

Implementation of Bridging Divides

26.On 26 July, CBT hosted the grant-making teams from BIG Lottery London and 
Trust for London.  This proved a valuable opportunity to share knowledge on 
each organisations’ respective strategy development and implementation.  
The sessions were attended by over 40 people from across all three 

Page 20



organisations with networking opportunities before and after the event.  It is 
hoped that these joint learning sessions will become regular events.

HR update
27.The job evaluation process, which was undertaken so as to standardise and 

update the job descriptions of existing CBT staff and evaluate the new posts 
that have been created, has now been completed (except for the Head of 
Chief Grants Officer’s office and Corporate Charity Business manager which 
is still undergoing evaluation).

28.The recruitment process will now commence for all of the roles below, with 
closing dates set for mid-September.  A further update will be provided at your 
November Committee

a) Business Support Manager
b) Executive Assistant
c) Head of Central Grants programme 
d) Head of Impact and Learning
e) Central Grants Funding officer

Islington Giving Young Grantmakers Programme update
29.The Young Grant Makers (YGM) programme is a one-year pilot delivered in 

partnership with Youth Bank International (YBI) with weekly sessions between 
May and December 2018. YGM has a grant budget of up to £80,000 with 
delegated authority to make decisions and awards up to the value of £15,000.

30.  YBI have developed and delivered young grant making programmes in 
multiple countries and have a strong guiding framework that allows different 
groups to pick up the model and adapt for their particular circumstances.  
Islington Giving’s (IG) programme team works closely on all aspects of the 
YGM programme to ensure IG requirements and expectations are at the 
forefront, to allow the team to learn and share learning within the team and 
with other interested funders. 

31.Kate Moralee, Grants Officer and a member of Islington Giving’s Grants 
Panel,  was invited to attend a training session with the young grant makers 
devoted to “understanding what success looks like for different stakeholders 
in the programme”. The session was well attended by a diverse group of 8 
young people (even though it was the same evening as an England world cup 
game). The young people were fully engaged with the programme, had 
attended regularly and demonstrated a good understanding of their role, 
through the questions they asked and the feedback they gave about previous 
sessions. The session was led by YBI and supported by a peer facilitator (a 
young person who had previously been through the training). 

32.Kate and another member of the Grants Panel were asked to share their 
views on what success would look like for IG grant panel. The young people 
then asked questions on governance – full decision-making process, 
accountability and the source of the money awarded in grants. The young 

Page 21



people were very interested in the history of CBT, its governance and 
decision-making processes, which are very different to those of Islington 
Giving. 

33.The young people were then asked to discuss their own criteria for “success” 
of the programme from the perspective of grant making and the grantees, 
which would be further refined during the consideration of expressions of 
interest submitted. The young people have previously delivered an evening of 
funding surgeries where they spoke to applicants about the programme, how 
to make an application, and the criteria for the programme. They will go on to 
look at other criteria against which they will measure success, specifically 
relating to success for those individuals taking part in the programme, at a 
future session. 

Bridge to Work network meeting
34.On the 18th August your officers held the most recent of the quarterly network 

meetings for the Bridge to Work programme.  The Deputy Chairman attended 
and warmly welcomed those present. These meetings are attended by all of 
the grantees who are in receipt of funding through Bridge to Work and provide 
an opportunity for conversation and collaboration amongst grantees and 
relevant external organisations that are invited.  The meeting was also 
attended by grantees of the Bridging Divides funding programmes who are 
delivering work of relevance, such as Scope and the Royal Society for Blind 
Children.

35.We were pleased to hear from Frances McAndrew, the Diversity and Inclusion 
Lead at Transport for London (TfL).  Frances spoke about the steps that TfL 
are taking to improve opportunities for disabled people to join and progress 
within their workforce of 28,000 staff.  Frances noted that whilst they have 
doubled the number of disabled employees (from 2% to 4%) in the past two 
years, she recognises that there is still a lot of work to be done.  She also 
mentioned a point of learning for colleagues across the City of London 
Corporation with regards to the Staff Diversity Networks at TfL, which have 
many subgroups relating to specific needs and utilised in a manner akin to a 
business resource group.  For example, a subgroup looking at adjustments 
plays a significant role in reviewing staff policies in relation to reasonable 
adjustments.

36.Other external guests included Venla Freeman and Russel Knight from the 
Prince’s Trust, who delivered a presentation on their employability support 
offer for young people that is funded by the Trust.  Your officers recognise that 
the efficacy of the Bridge to Work programme is strengthened by collaborative 
working and a coming together of the various strands of work which are 
supported across the City Bridge Trust’s portfolio of grants. There is already 
common ground between these two initiatives and great scope to build further 
on that.

37.Finally, we heard from Karen Mitchell of The Shaw Trust, an organisation that 
is delivering the Work and Health Programme in West London on behalf of the 
Department for Work and Pensions.  The Work and Health Programme is a 

Page 22



Government initiative designed to help disabled people find and sustain work.  
It was of great value to hear of the approach to providing support and the long 
history of quantitative data which underpins the design of the Programme.  
Bridge to Work aims to foster a spirit of collaboration and to share learning not 
just between your grantees but across all sectors, including government 
departments.

38.The next Bridge to Work network meeting is scheduled for Monday 10th 
December from 2pm to 5pm at the Guildhall.  The attendance of Committee 
Members would be most welcome.

David Farnsworth
CGO and Director of CBT
T: 020 7332 3722
E: David.Farnsworth@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 23

mailto:David.Farnsworth@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



Committee: Date:

City Bridge Trust (CBT) 7th September 2018

Subject: Financial Position of CBT in respect of 
Periods 1-4 (April-July 2018)

Public

Report of:
Director of City Bridge Trust and Chief Grants Officer 
(CGO)

For Information

Author
Clare Wand, Senior Accountant Charities

Summary

This paper sets out City Bridge Trust’s (CBT’s) spend against budget for period 1 
April to 31 July 2018 (periods 1- 4). CBT was allocated a total budget of £23.4m in 
the financial year 2018/19.  £21.5m of this budget was allocated to the grants 
programme. The actual grant spend as at the end of period 4 is £1.1m below budget, 
but this is offset by a £1m commitment agreed by the Court of Common Council, on 
recommendation of this Committee.  There is also an underspend compared to the 
original budget profile in two other main areas of expenditure: Employee Costs and  
Supplies and Services. Further details on these variances can be found in the report 
below.  These variances are considered to be timing related (for example a delay in 
recruitment of new posts). Now that Q1 is complete, more detailed forecasting will 
commence. At this stage, it is anticipated that budgets will be met. 

Recommendation

a) That the report be noted.

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



Main Report

Table 1: CBT Budget v Actual Spend, Month Ending July 31st 2018.

ACTUAL 
YTD     

BUDGET
YTD

VARIANCE
                    

VARIANCE
                                                                               

ANNUAL 
BUDGET

Local Risk
£000s £000s £000s % £000s

Employees 518 630 (112) (17) 1,888
Transport 2 2 0 0 6
Supplies and 
Services 104 228 (124) (53) 509

Total Expenditure 624 860 (236) (27) 2,403

Income (37) (37) 0 0 (196)

Total Local Risk 587 823 (236) (28) 2,207

Central Risk

Grants 4,879 6,026 (1,147) (19) 21,495
Depreciation - - - - 31
Social Investment 
Income 8 0 8 - (400)

Total Central Risk 4,887 6,026 (1,139) (19) 21,126

Recharges 1 0 1 - 131

Total Net 
Expenditure 5,475 6,849 (1,374) (20) 23,464

Further Explanation/Analysis of Table 1

Local Risk

Employee Costs

1. As a result of the implementation of Bridging Divides a new staffing structure 
was agreed which included some additional appointments. When the original 
budget was set in November 2017 we were hopeful that the new 
appointments would be in place from the start of the financial year 2018/19. 
The job evaluation  process in respect of these new roles has now been 
completed (except for one role which is still ongoing) which has resulted in 

Page 26



CBT being under budget on salaries in the first quarter of 2018. Some of this 
underspend is being offset by the cost of temporary staff who are in place to 
fill some of the vacant posts.  We will continue to monitor this budget and 
provide regular reforecasts. 

Supplies and Services

2. At the end of period 4 supplies and services which include consultancy, 
software maintenance and support, subscriptions and events and 
conferences, had an actual spend of £104k compared to a budget to date of 
£228k. At this early stage in the year it is anticipated that this difference is 
mainly due to timings and that the expenditure will catch up with the original 
budget profile as the year progresses.  Spending in areas such as staff 
training is less than expected due to the delayed recruitment process.  

Income

3. The budget includes income from the Central Grants Unit and the Wembley 
National Stadium Trust (WNST) contract. 

Central Risk

Grants

4. The actual grant commitment (which also includes fees and services of £23k) 
as per the above table is £4.8m, resulting in a variance compared to budget of 
£1.1m.  The ‘actual’ figure reported in the above table does not include the 
£1m for the Mayor’s Fund for Young Londoners which although agreed by the 
Court of Common Council in May on the recommendation of the CBT 
Committee, has yet to have any specific grant commitments made, details of 
how this fund is to be allocated can be found in the Chief Grants Officer’s 
report elsewhere in your papers today.

5. An element of the 20th Anniversary funding was held in a designated fund at 
the year end 17/18. Although the purpose of these funds has been approved 
by the Committee the financial impact of these is yet to hit the budget with 
spend expected to commence in September 2018. 

6. A more detailed analysis of the grants budget can be found with the Grants 
Budget and Applications report, elsewhere in these papers.

Depreciation

7. The charge for depreciation will be made in period 12 and represents a 
general allocation of depreciation on the Guildhall facility.

Page 27



Social Investment Income

8. A change against the original budget in 18/19 sees income associated with 
the Social Investments Fund now being included within the CBT budget to 
match where the responsibility for generating this income lies.  A budget of 
£400k has now been allocated.

Page 28



Committee Dated:

City Bridge Trust 7th September 2018

Subject:
Grants Budget and Applications today

Public

Report of:
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

For Information

Report author:  Jemma Grieve Combes, Grants Officer

Summary

This paper summarises grant applications recommended for decision at today’s 
meeting, and those that have been considered since your last meeting under your 
schemes of delegation.

Recommendations

Members are asked to:
a) Note the report
b) Consider the grant recommendations in the subsequent annexes

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



Main report
1. 29 grant recommendations will be dealt with at today’s meeting, including 16 recommendations for decision by Members today 

(see Section 9 of today’s papers).  In addition, a recommendation is included in Section 10 to allocate both non-grant and grant 
funds towards phase 1 of your Funder Plus offer. 13 grants are to be noted as approved by delegated authority since your last 
meeting (Section 10d of today’s papers).  

Table 1: Today’s recommendations

 
Investing in 
Londoners

Bridging 
Divides

Anniversary 
Programmes Total

Action No £ No £ No £ No £
Grant recommendations 15 1,769,320 1 255,600 0 0 16 2,024,920
Approved by delegated authority up to £10,000 0 0 1 2,800 1 5,050 2 7,850
Approved by delegated authority from £10,001 - £25,000 0 0 1 20,000 9 171,405 10 191,405
Approved by delegated authority from £25,001 - £50,000 1 48,800 0 0 0 0 1 48,800
Sub total 16 1,818,120 3 278,400 10 176,455 29 2,272,975
Additional non-grant spend 50,000    50,000 
Funds committed for specific projects 500,000    500,000 
Total 16 1,818,120 3 828,400 10 176,455 29 2,822,975 

2. A further 47 applications are either recommended for rejection or have been withdrawn or lapsed (sections 10b and 10e of today’s 
papers).  This includes 10 applications rejected under the latest round of your Cornerstone fund (anniversary programme).

Table 2: Today’s rejections

 Investing in Londoners Bridging Divides Anniversary Programmes Total
Action No No No No

Recommended for rejection 23 6 0 29
Delegated rejections (to note) 0  0 10 10
Withdrawn (to note) 7 2 0 9
Lapsed (to note) 1  0 0 1
Total 31 8 0 47

P
age 30



3. There are 8 new variations to grant awards to report at today’s meeting, leading to write-backs of £150,001. The total value of 
variations this financial year is £369,551.  

4. Table 3 shows the implications of today’s recommendations against your 2018/19 grants budgets.

Table 3: Overall spend against 2018/19 total grants budgets     

 
Bridging Divides/ 

Investing in Londoners
Anniversary 
Programmes Total

Budget  £  £  £
2018/19 Budget  20,000,000  0  20,000,000
2017/18 designated fund  0  2,830,900  2,830,900
Total budget  20,000,000  2,830,900  22,830,900
Grants awarded in 2018/19 6,075,676  0  6,075,676  
Less 2018/19 variations to date*1 (219,550)  0  (219,550)  
Net grant commitments 2018/19 to date  5,856,126  0  5,856,126
Remaining budget 2018/19  14,143,874  2,830,900  16,974,774
Today's meeting       

Grant commitments 2,596,520 176,455   
Non-grant commitments** 50,000 0   

Today's meeting total 2,646,520 176,455  2,822,975
Less today’s variations (150,001) (150,001)
Remaining budget 2018/19 after today's meeting  11,647,355  2,654,445  14,301,800

Jemma Grieve Combes
Grants Officer (Monitoring and Evaluation)
T: 020 7332 3174
E: jemma.grievecombes@cityoflondon.gov.uk

* Variations are write-backs and revocations to active grants that result in amounts being unspent or returned to the Trust.
** Non-grant spend represents expenditure such as management costs, evaluation activity or related research that is recommended for 
approval but will not be awarded as a grant to another charity.

P
age 31

mailto:jemma.grievecombes@cityoflondon.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 32



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

City Bridge Trust  
 

7th September 2018 

Subject: 
Grants analysis, trends and management 
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO) 
 

For Information 
 

Report author:  Jemma Grieve Combes, Grants Officer 
 

 

 
 

Summary 
 

This paper provides an update on progress against your 2018/19 grants budgets and 
summarises those grants awarded and in management. 
 
If today’s recommendations are approved, you will have £11,647,355 (57%) of your 
main grants budget (comprising both Investing in Londoner’s and Bridging Divides 
grants schemes) left to spend.   
 

Recommendation 
Members are asked to: 

a) Note the report 
 
 

Main Report 
Background 
 
1. Your current grant making is comprised of four main schemes: Investing in 

Londoners, Bridging Divides, Anniversary Programmes and Prince’s Trust.  
Details of each are explored below.  
 
Investing in Londoners and Bridging Divides 
 

2. The Investing in Londoners and Bridging Divides grants schemes comprise your 
principal grants programmes.  The Investing in Londoners grants scheme closed 
to new applications on 20th April 2018.  It is anticipated that the remaining 
applications will be assessed and presented to your Committee by the end of 
October 2018.  Bridging Divides opened to new applications on 23rd April 2018.  
Both schemes draw on the same grants budget but, where appropriate, will be 
reported on individually. 

 
3. Total spend to date and applications considered at today’s meeting are shown in 

your ‘Grants Budget and Applications” report elsewhere in your papers.   
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



4. Spending rate: Chart 1 shows the 
spending rate at each Committee 
meeting.  We would expect a broadly 
even spread at each meeting 
(approximately 17% per meeting) but 
there are inevitably some peaks and 
troughs.  If today’s recommendations 
are approved you will have 
£11,647,355 (57%) of your Investing 
in Londoner’s/ Bridging Divides 
grants budget left to spend.   

 
5. Grant variations: Write backs of 

funds to date, including those 
reported at today’s meeting, total 
£369,551.  This represents 1.8% of 
the annual grants budget and, as 
such, is not unduly high.  
 

6. Assessments in progress: The 
Trust is currently assessing 
applications, including Strategic 
Initiatives, at a total value of £17,825,851.   
 

Table 1: Proposed use of remaining budget   
Value of submitted applications - under assessment £17,270,851 
Value of proposed strategic initiatives £555,000 
Total requests under assessment  £17,825,851 

 
7. Awards made against grant outcomes:  Under your Investing in Londoner’s 

scheme you have several different programmes which aim to achieve different 
thematic outcomes. Chart 2 shows grant amount awarded by programme area.  
Please note that this covers only Investing in Londoners and not your new 
Bridging Divides programmes. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

14%
May-18

16%
Jul-18

13%
Today

57%
To spend

£0

£3

£7

£10

£13

£17

£20

M
ill

io
ns

Chart 1: Bridging Divides/ 
Investing in Londoners 

spending progress

Page 34



 
 
Anniversary programmes 

 

8. The Anniversary fund approved in 2015-16 is designated for use towards an 
employability and an infrastructure programme.  
    

9. Employability programme: Funds of £4,735,000 for the Employability 
Programme were fully committed in 2017/18.  Some amounts within that will be 
formally allocated in future years over the 5-year life of this programme.  

 
10. Infrastructure Programme: 24% of the total Infrastructure Programme budget of 

£3,713,000 was committed at the end of 2017-18.  The final £2,830,900 is 
forecast to be committed in 2018/19 in line with the implementation of The Way 
Ahead and the Cornerstone Fund.  Today’s meeting reports grants of £176,455 
committed under the Cornerstone Fund.  The remaining budget is £2,654,445. 

 
11. Prince’s Trust 
 

The Trust has managed an annual grant award of £1,000,000 to The Prince’s 
Trust since 2014. At your March 2018 meeting you approved a 3-year 
commitment of £3,000,000.   

 
Work in progress 
 
12. Progress of applications: Chart 3 shows the progress of the final Investing in 

Londoner’s applications (including Stepping Stones).  At the time of writing this 
report, 48 non-Stepping Stones applications were pending and still under 

3 grant(s), £372,150, 5.6%

8 grant(s), £995,600, 
14.9%

3 grant(s), £195,520, 2.9%

13 grant(s), 
£1,318,400, 19.7%

0 grant(s), £0, 0.0%

9 grant(s), £929,740, 
13.9%

11 grant(s), £1,359,118, 
20.3%

2 grant(s), £220,000, 3.3%

0 grant(s), £0, 0.0%

7 grant(s), £821,100, 
12.3%

5 grant(s), £450,400, 6.7%

4 grant(s), £6,966, 0.1%

5 grant(s), £14,320, 0.2%

0 grant(s), £0, 0.0%

£0 £200,000 £400,000 £600,000 £800,000 £1,000,000 £1,200,000 £1,400,000

English for Speakers of Other Languages

Improving Londoners' Mental Health

Improving London's Environment

Making London More Inclusive

Making London Safer

Older Londoners

Reducing Poverty

Resettlement & Rehabilitation of Offenders

Stepping Stones

Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector

Strategic Initiatives

Eco-audits

Access Audits

Exceptional Grants

Chart 2: % total grant amount awarded by Investing in Londoners 
programme, year to date (2018/19)

Year to date Today's meeting

Page 35



consideration by your officers.  It is anticipated that the remaining applications will 
be assessed and presented to your Committee by the end of October 2018.   

 
13. To date 82 Bridging Divides applications have been received.  9 are considered 

at today’s meeting. 
 

 
*The Chart excludes strategic initiatives, partnership programmes and exceptional grants as they are 
usually approved through a different application process than your standard Investing in Londoners 
grants.   
 
14. Volume of applications: The peak in applications in May 2018 reflects the 

closure of Investing in Londoners and the deadline for the latest round of your 
Stepping Stones Fund.  The Trust has taken on additional temporary staffing 
resource to ensure these applications are processed in a timely manner, the cost 
of which is already within your budget. 

 
15. Grants in Management value: The total value of the grants (approximately 680) 

currently under the on-going management of your Grants Officers is 
approximately £ 29,792,465. 

 

Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May
2017 2018

Grand Total 25 18 23 25 24 37 106
Today's meeting 0 0 0 0 2 14 32
Pending 1 0 0 2 3 6 49
Declined 13 11 12 13 8 10 24
Approved 11 7 11 10 11 7 1

25
18

23 25 24

37

106

0

20

40

60

80

100

Chart 3: Progress of final Investing in Londoners pending applications* Today's
meeting

Pending

Declined

Approved

Page 36



16. Grants in management learning and monitoring: In the financial year to date 
your officers have assessed and signed off 155 annual progress reports from 
grantees.    

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jemma Grieve Combes 
Grants Officer (Monitoring and Evaluation) 
 

T: 020 7332 3174     E: jemma.grievecombes@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

62

34

22

10

27

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Apr May Jun Jul Aug

2018

Chart 4: 2018/19 progress reports assessed

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



Page 39

Agenda Item 9



Page 40



Page 41

Agenda Item 9a



Page 42



Page 43

Agenda Item 9b



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47

Agenda Item 9c



Page 48



Page 49

Agenda Item 9d



Page 50



Page 51

Agenda Item 9e



Page 52



Page 53

Agenda Item 9f



Page 54



Page 55

Agenda Item 9g



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59

Agenda Item 9h



Page 60



Page 61

Agenda Item 9i



Page 62



Page 63

Agenda Item 9j



Page 64



Page 65

Agenda Item 9k



Page 66



Page 67

Agenda Item 9l



Page 68



Page 69

Agenda Item 9m



Page 70



Page 71

Agenda Item 9n



Page 72



Page 73

Agenda Item 9o



Page 74



Page 75

Agenda Item 9p



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Committee Dated:

City Bridge Trust 7th August 2018

Subject:
Funder Plus offer – proposals for Phase 1

Public

Report of:
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

Report author:
Jenny Field, Deputy Director of City Bridge Trust

For Decision

Summary

This report sets out proposals for the first phase of a new CBT Funder Plus1 offer, as 
part of your Bridging Divides strategy for 2018 – 2023.  It is anticipated that these 
proposals will lay a foundation on which additional layers of support can be added 
and one which enables other funders could join if they so wished for the benefit of 
their grantees.  This paper builds on outline proposals that were brought to your 
November 2017 meeting and has been informed by two consultation round tables – 
one with funders and another with civil society support organisations.  

Recommendation

Members are asked to:

a) Commit up to £500,000 of your 2018/19 grants budget towards Phase One of 
the proposed Funder Plus offer.

b) Commit up to £50,000 non-grants expenditure in order to procure a Managing 
and Learning Partner to provide capacity to manage the initiative (up to 
£25,00) and to help evaluate its effectiveness (up to £25,000). 

Main Report

Background

1. Your Bridging Divides strategy 2018 – 2023 commits you to improving your 
Funder Plus offer to make it more coherent and better aligned with other 
funders.  

1 ‘Funder Plus’ means providing capacity building support for grantees, usually through a third-party provider, 
thereby adding value to the grant.  For example, you are supporting the Cranfield Trust’s Strive Programme 
which is providing pro bono management consultancy support for up to 95 CBT grantees.

Page 79

Agenda Item 10a



2. You currently fund a number of support activities for grantees that can be 
described as Funder Plus.  Examples include the Cranfield Trust’s Strive 
Programme which is providing pro bono consultancy support for up to 95 CBT 
grantees working on issues of poverty, disability or social; exclusion; your 
Eco-Audit initiative, whereby you will provide applicants with a free eco audit; 
and the Access and Sustainability Advice Service you fund within the Centre 
for Accessible Environments to underpin grants you award for access audits 
and for the capital costs of providing improved access to community building.  

3. Whilst these examples are all highly welcomed by your grantees we recognise 
there is room to improve the range of what is being offered and to provide an 
effective digital platform to help grantees navigate the offer.

4. It is also recognised that organisations can sometimes feel overwhelmed by 
too many Funder Plus offers but not able to turn any down for fear of 
appearing ungrateful.  To mitigate this it is important that any offer should be 
just that:  an offer not a requirement.  As important is that funders work 
together to better align their respective offers.

5. At your November 2017 meeting, you received a paper updating you on the 
implementation of your Bridging Divides strategy.  In that paper, we set out 
proposals for a “layered” approach to improving your Funder Plus At its most 
simple, we would like to be able to provide grantees with support in some of 
the key areas that organisations often need help with.  

6. At the next level, we would want to look at harnessing the talent of the City 
Corporation’s varied workforce for the benefit of our funded organisations.  At 
the next level, we would want to broker support between our funded 
organisations and the private sector.  Finally, we would want to ensure that 
the offer fully complements the work you are funding through The Way Ahead 
and the Hub for London.

7. This paper sets out proposals for the first layer which described as ‘Phase 
One’ of your revised Funder Plus offer.  We hope this will provide a foundation 
on which additional layers of support can be added.

The proposal

8. We hosted a round table for funders in January 2018 where there was clear 
support to both improve and better align our respective Funder Plus offers.  

9. A meeting was then held on 10th July 2018 for providers of civil society 
support in London.  The main purpose of the meeting was to explore how we 
could work together to co-create a Funder Plus offer for City Bridge Trust.

10. It was a very rich discussion with a real excitement and appetite for working 
together to provide an offer that would not only deliver some of the more 
‘traditional’ areas of civil society support, such as governance and managing 
resources, but also more creative and imaginative ways of helping 

Page 80

http://thewayahead.london/


organisations build their capacity and organisational resilience by resourcing, 
for example, peer-to-peer support within organisations or backfilling capacity 
in an organisation to enable key staff to attend conferences, networking 
events, training or action learning sets.

11. It was always envisaged that the Funder Plus offer would be navigated via a 
digital platform that would enable organisations seeking support to self-
diagnose but also to enable them to identify the best, or most appropriate, 
provider for them.

12.However, it was clear from the discussions (and was borne out by the funder 
roundtable held earlier this year) that whilst digital tools have an important 
part to play, they cannot replace a face-to-face conversation.  Often, human 
interaction can help to tease out more pressing issues than the organisation 
itself had originally identified.

13.Both round tables also emphasised the importance of there being ‘clear blue 
water’ between who does the needs analysis of the organisation’s needs and 
the funder (potential/existing grantees may be reluctant to show what might 
be perceived to be weaknesses to funders).

14. It is therefore proposed that Phase One of your new Funder Plus offer will run 
as a ‘Triage and Connect’ programme to test what does good ‘diagnostics’, 
‘connecting’ and ‘supporting’ look like, working initially with three cohorts of 
your grantees.  The cohorts are likely to be:

 A group of recent grantees;
 A group linked by geography (focusing on the ‘cold spots’ highlighted in the 

statistical report that was brought to your last meeting);
 A group linked by an issue (yet to be decided but it would be sector specific, 

for example, mental health; frontline advice agencies; deaf and disabled 
people’s organisations).

15.Civil society support organisations would be invited to apply for grants to 
provide this Triage and Connect programme over a twelve-month period and 
to signpost grantees to the most appropriate source of support (which could 
not be the Triage and Connectors’ own organisation, of course).  A draft 
outline of the programme is currently out for consultation with a number of civil 
society support organisations and is provided for your information and 
comment at Appendix A. 

16.We envisage three such grants would be awarded, each to work with one of 
the three cohorts.  Recommendations for these grants would be brought to 
your November 2018 Committee meeting.

17. It is recommended that you commit up to £500,000 of your 2018/19 grants 
budget towards Phase One of the propose Funder Plus offer.  This represents 
2% of your baseline grants budget and officers are of the view that this is a 
reasonable proportion of the grants budget to use for this purpose.  It would 
cover the following costs:

Page 81



 Funds for CBT grantees in the three cohorts to access the support identified 
by the diagnostic;

 The cost of an entry platform;
 The cost to the Triage and Connectors of providing the service;
 Engagement of the Triage and Connectors with CBT and its Managing and 

Learning Partner (see below).

18. In order to provide the ‘clear blue water’ outlined in paragraph 13 and in order 
to be able to build in a test and learn approach to the programme, it is also 
proposed to invite tenders to both manage and evaluate Phase One (that is, 
to appoint a Managing and Learning Partner) through the City of London 
Corporation’s procurement process.  It is anticipated that the cost of 
managing this would be in the range £35,000 - £50,000.  Therefore, it is 
further recommended that you approve non-grant funding of up to a maximum 
of £50,000 for these costs.

19. It is proposed that Phase One runs over a twelve-month period initially.

Conclusion

20. It is hoped that Phase One will provide a foundation on which to build 
additional layers of your offer and one which other funders could join if they so 
wished for the benefit of their grantees.

21.The appointment of a Managing and Learning Partner will provide the 
required capacity and distance to manage the programme as well as enabling 
it to be adapted as necessary.

22. It is proposed to bring regular updates to this Committee on the programme is 
progressing.

Page 82



Appendix A

Page 83



DRAFT

CITY BRIDGE TRUST

Funder Plus programme:  Phase 1

1. Introduction

1.1 In April 2018, City Bridge Trust launched its new funding priorities and strategy 

for 2018-23. This strategy (Bridging Divides), will guide how we allocate a 

grants’ budget of around £100m, how we encourage philanthropy, how we 

make social investments as well as how we use our knowledge, networks and 

assets to address disadvantage and marginalisation in London. 

1.2 Over the next five years, we are committed to using all of our financial and non-

financial assets and those of our trustee (that is, our funding, knowledge, 

networks and the expertise we can access) to support Londoners and London’s 

communities who are experiencing inequalities and marginalisation to thrive.

1.3 This is an unusually challenging time for London’s civil society, and grant-

making alone is not sufficient to help voluntary, community and social enterprise 

organisations achieve their full potential. The Trust recognises that, in addition 

to finance, organisations need to be equipped with all the necessary skills, 

knowledge, systems and contacts that allow them to thrive.

1.4 To help facilitate this, the Trust is interested in setting up a new Funder + 

Programme as part of its commitment to strengthening the sector. This new 

Programme will be developed in collaboration with other funders, grantees and 

other stakeholders in-line with our values, and we now wish to appoint a Lead 

Partner to work with us on developing and supporting the collaborative 

arrangements required to deliver the Programme.

Page 84



2. City Bridge Trust

2.1 City Bridge Trust is the working name of the funding arm of Bridge House 

Estates, an ancient charity established to maintain and repair the first stone 

bridge across the River Thames. Since 1995, funds surplus to bridge 

requirements can be distributed in the form of charitable grants for the benefit 

of the inhabitants of London. Depending on bridge requirements, we award up 

to £20m per annum. We usually award 250 grants across all our programmes 

each year, and at any one time we would expect to have around 600 active 

grantees.

2.2 Our vision is for London to be a city where all individuals and communities can 

thrive, especially those experiencing disadvantage and marginalisation, by 

removing the challenges and barriers that they experience.

2.3 Our mission is to reduce inequality and foster more cohesive communities, by 

using all of our assets and resources (monetary and otherwise) for a London 

that serves everyone. 

2.4 Bridge House Estates’ sole trustee is the Mayor and Commonalty and Citizens 

of the City of London (in other words, the City of London Corporation). Like 

other major funders, we can convene conferences and learning events, publish 

high-profile research, and reach mass audiences through popular media. As a 

consequence of our trustee and our position in the heart of the City of London 

we have extensive business and political networks as well as relationships with 

institutions such as the Barbican and the Old Bailey. These relationships 

represent opportunities to deepen and expand the work that we deliver through 

our grant spending. In addition, the Trust oversees the City of London 

Corporation Social Investment Fund, a designation of £20m from the charity’s 

capital which is allocated for supporting activity with both a social and financial 

return.

3. Bridging Divides

Page 85



3.1 Through Bridging Divides we will use our knowledge, networks and assets to 

tackle disadvantage, poverty, inequality and marginalisation. These are often 

overlapping issues, and whilst some of the work we undertake will seek to 

manage their consequences, we also look to address root causes in 

collaboration with partners in civil society, public and private sectors. 

3.2 Our approach will be informed by a developmental model where quality of life 

is viewed as four consecutive stages (survival, coping, adaptation and thriving) 

and where the time taken to move from one stage to the next varies depending 

on the individual as well as the nature of the challenges they face. People may 

move back and forth between different stages, and often need different kinds 

of support from different agencies based on where they are and what is likely 

to achieve greatest impact.

3.3 Bridging Divides has three priorities with two cross-cutting themes – Reducing 
Inequalities and Every Voice Counts.  

Connecting the capital
We will support work to strengthen communities and improves their future 
prospects.

Positive transitions
We will support work with Londoners who experience inequality to make 
positive transitions.

Advice and support
We will help ensure that advice, advocacy and support services continue to 
exist as a safety net for London’s most disadvantaged.

3.4 These priorities are underpinned by our five values:

 Inclusion and representation 
 Care for the environment 

 Early action 

 Collaborative working with Londoners, communities and all sectors

 Being adaptive, creative and purposeful.

3.5 In order to deliver these priorities and work in a way that is aligned to our values 

we will offer a range of support to the organisations we assist. This will include 

Page 86



delivery of what we call the CBT Toolbox, a range of grant funding 

opportunities, social investment, and access to individual and corporate 

philanthropy, and our new Funder Plus offer, a suite of capacity building 

services from third party providers. 

4. Funder+ Programme

4.1 We want to develop our new Funder+ Programme based on a number of 

principles:

● being diagnostic based, with both self-assessment and triage, as well as 

independence designed into the ecology of support provided;

● that there is an accessible point of entry for organisations into the 

ecology of support that provides for ‘informed choice’ and ease of 

navigation around the range of excellent support that exists to support 

civil society in London;

● that the ecology of support available is demand led rather than supply 

led and recognises the power of peer to peer support for problem solving 

and sourcing solutions;

● that the ecology of support is ‘network’ driven to provide opportunities 

for collective reflection, learning and problem solving;

● that is collaborative, both with other funders and resource investors in 

London’s civil society, and with existing and future delivery partner 

organisations;

4.2 For the first phase of the programme, we would like to run a Triage and Connect 

programme to test what does good ‘diagnostics’, ‘connecting’ and ‘support’ look 

like, based on the above principles.

4.3 To that end, we invite applications for grants to provide a Triage and Connect 

service  (‘Connectors’) for three cohorts of CBT grantees.

Page 87



4.4 We have identified the following as areas associated with a ‘taxonomy of 

organisational life’ with which organisations may need support: 

● Governance - to include a focus on Mission, Purpose & Values plus 

support around organisational culture & leadership;

● Planning - to include areas such as working in a complex environment
● Leadership and management - to include a focus on Mission, Purpose 

& Values plus (possibly) support around organisational culture & 
leadership;

● User-centred service - how do you enable co-production to be at the 
heart of your activity;

● Managing people - to include a focus on Mission, Purpose & Values plus 
(possibly) support around organisational culture & leadership;

● Learning and development - to include systems thinking;
● Managing money - the emphasis here should be on organisational 

sustainability and medium to long term financial planning;
● Managing resources - the emphasis here should be on organisational 

sustainability and medium to long term planning;
● External communications - to include speaking truth to power and co-

production;
● Working with others - to include a focus on Mission, Purpose & Values 

and to ask the big question around the fulfilment of charitable purpose - 
“does my organisation need to exist?”

● Assessing outcomes and impact - to include active consideration of ‘your 
place’ in the [appropriate] ecology and system” and a focus on ‘collective 
impact’.

4.5 However, we do not see this list as exhaustive and there are other interventions 
that can play a valuable role in strengthening an organisation.  These could 
include:

 Backfilling capacity in an organisation to enable key staff to attend 
conferences, networking events, training or action learning sets, for 
example.

 One-to-one mentoring.
 Resource to enable peer to peer support/shared learning amongst 

organisations.

Page 88



 Facilitated coffee trials to spark ideas.
We are open, therefore, to other ideas for our Funder + offer.

4.6 City Bridge Trust/City of London Corporation will be recruiting a Volunteer 
Manager over the coming months to develop the City of London Corporation’s 
employee volunteering programme.  

4.7 CBT is about to embark on a survey of its grantees to determine their appetite 
for support from the City of London Corporation’s workforce.  This will also be 
an opportunity to ask about their support needs and what other Funder Plus 
offers they are currently engaged with.  The results of the survey will also inform 
the ‘list’ of support set out in paragraphs 4.4 and 4.5.

4 8 Given the above, the ‘Connectors’ potentially may need to link with the 
Volunteer Manager. 

5. Triage & Connect
5.1 Our recent Funder Plus consultation meeting with civil society support providers 

on 10th July 2018, brought home the fact that whilst digital resources can play 
a valuable role within a diagnostic ‘system’, it cannot replace human interaction.  
We are therefore looking to fund three different ‘Connecters’ to each work with 
one of the three cohorts.

5.2 We would propose to draw the three cohorts from either:

 Recently funded grantees (n.b  these will almost certainly be drawn from our 

previous programmes, Investing in Londoners as will take too long to grow a 

big enough cohort from Bridging Divides).

Or

 A cohort funded on a specific programme of Investing in Londoners.

Or

 A cohort based in a specific part of London.

Page 89



5.3 Grantees fitting one of those criteria would be invited to take part in this initiative 

on the understanding that there are limited resources for this pilot and that 

support would be offered on a first come first serve basis.2

OR

5.3 Grantees fitting one of those criteria would be invited to take part in this 

initiative.  However, resources for this initiative are limited and the ‘Connecters’ 

wold be expected to prioritise which organisations are assisted, based on a 

hierarchy of need.

5.4 The three ‘Connecters’ would be expected to work together to provide an entry 

point access platform.  CBT is flexible as to whether this draws on existing 

platforms or is designed as a bespoke resource.  It will form part of the test and 

learn approach of the pilot, however.  

5.5 It should be noted that ‘Connecters’ would not be able to also be providers of 

capacity building support to the organisation concerned.

6. Management of Phase 1

6.1 CBT intend to commission a Managing and Learning Partner to manage the 

Phase 1 programme for us and to work alongside the ‘Connecters’ and the 

supported organisations to enable the programme to be adjusted where 

necessary.

6.2 The Managing and Learning Partner will also help CBT to plan for Phase 2.

7.0 Budget

7.1 The total budget available for Phase 1 over 12 months is yet to be determined 

but will need to cover:

 Costs of the ‘Connecters’

2 I have presented 2 x 5.3’s and would be glad of thoughts on this.

Page 90



 Funds for the supported organisations to access the support identified following 

the diagnostic whether this be to purchase services from a provider and/or to 

backfill the beneficiary organisation for its costs to provide capacity to be 

supported.

 Costs of providing an entry platform.

 Engagement of the ‘Connecters’ with CBT, it’s Managing and Learning Partner 

to be appointed to support the test and learn approach.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92



Committee Dated:

City Bridge Trust 7th September 2018

Subject:
Applications recommended for rejection

Public

Report of:
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

For Decision

Report author: 
Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants Officer

Summary

This report and the accompanying schedule outlines a total of 29 grant 
applications that, for the reasons identified, are recommended for 
rejection. Of these 23 applications were under Investing in Londoners 
criteria and 6 under Bridging Divides.

Recommendation

Members are asked to:

 Reject the grant applications detailed in the accompanying schedule

Main Report

1. There are 29 applications recommended for rejection at this meeting. 
They are listed within categories in the accompanying schedule. In each 
case the “purpose” that is used to describe the application is that 
provided by the applicant organisation. All the recommendations are 
based on criteria set out in your Policy Guidance. 

2. Copies of these application forms are available electronically. If any 
Committee Member wishes to query any of the recommendations, this 
can either be done at the meeting, in which case the decision may be 
deferred while full details are provided to the Member concerned, or by 
contacting the Trust office in advance of the meeting so that an 
explanation can be provided prior to or at the meeting. 

Ciaran Rafferty
Principal Grants Officer
T: 020 7332 3186
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 93

Agenda Item 10b

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


CBT Recommended for Rejection
The City Bridge Trust Committee – 7th September 2018

Summary of Recommendations for Rejection – Investing in Londoners and Bridging Divides

Investing in Londoners
Grants

Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer
Date         Organisation Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area

English for Speakers of Other Languages

May 2018 14728 RefuAid’s Language: A Gateway Newly registered organisation, which at the £150,000 CR
RefuAid Programme provides intensive and time of application could not provide Southwark

structured language tuition to refugees independently examined, full-year accounts.
and asylum seekers as a stepping stone Organisational budgets/forecasts presented
to higher education and employment. were optimistic.

Total English for Speakers of Other Languages (1 item) £150,000

Improving Londoners' Mental Health

April 2018 14674 We are applying for funding to cover our The charity uses unqualified community £101,176 JGC
Carefree Kids qualified Volunteer Coordinator post volunteers to develop its own programme of Waltham Forest

who supports and delivers training to play therapy to children and young people
our volunteers. with psychological difficulties. This does not

meet the standards required under your
Improving Londoners' Mental Health
programme of work.

April 2018 14675 To help us invest in the core Following advice from the Comptroller and £70,000 JNM
Transgenerational infrastructure necessary to safely City Solicitor, the organisation was deemed Richmond
Change Limited deliver long lasting change to more        ineligible.

disadvantaged children with mental
health difficulties

 Total Improving Londoners' Mental Health (2 items) £171,176

P
age 94



Grants
Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer
Date         Organisation Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area

Making London More Inclusive

May 2018 14686 Individualised/group A poorly presented application with £45,602 KAM
Brighter Opportunities out-in-the-community, structured, confusing information, presenting outputs Outside London
through Supported targeted, outcome focussed support to and outcomes that are not a close fit with
Play Havering disabled young people your programme Making London More

transitioning into adulthood and Inclusive.
changing attitudes on how they are
perceived and received.

May 2018 14709 Demelza Paediatric Palliative Care The applicant applied for funding towards an £136,144 JNM
Demelza House Clinical Nurse Specialist: supporting existing post of Paediatric Palliative Care Greenwich
Childrens Hospice families of seriously or terminally ill Clinical Nurse Specialist that was introduced

babies, children and young adults to a year ago to build capacity in the Paediatric
maintain choice and control Care team. The role is to work closely with

families of very ill children being treated in
hospital, advising them of the services on
offer at the hospice. The applicant applied
under your Making London More Inclusive
programme, specifically claiming to meet the
outcome: "helping people with a newly
acquired or diagnosed disability to maintain
choice and control in their lives." Given that
the applicant receives funding awarded on a
"spot purchasing" basis for in-hospice care
and there is a financial incentive to securing
hospice users, the proposal is not
considered to meet the outcome of offering
choice and control.

P
age 95



Grants
Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer
Date         Organisation Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area

May 2018      14697                To fund the development and running of  The organisation is in the process of a            £202,000CR
Employment Autism pilot work experience programmes and significant re-organisation, with some Westminster

create resources to support elements of its work going to other charities.
organisations to adopt work experience It has no free reserves and currently
models for autistic people. operates from a home address, with only

one part-time employee - despite turnover of
c. £300,000 p/a. A grant cannot be advised
at this stage.

May 2018 14715 Funding for First Step's Chief Executive This organisation has one year of running £157,455 JNM
First Step Officer (Salary). costs in reserve, so is not a priority for your Havering

funding. The application also does not
demonstrate impact against your funding
criteria or show how funding the CEO's
salary would allow it to meet the specific
outcomes of your Making London More
Inclusive programme.

April 2018 14617 To start an inclusive arts programme Whilst legally compliant, in your officer's £33,500 RG
October Gallery targeting all people of all ages with view the day-to-day governance Camden

learning difficulties and disabilities to be arrangements do not follow best practice or
part of our core education programme. meet the standards required for a grant.

P
age 96



Grants
Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer
Date         Organisation Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area

April 2018 14658 Access audit and design appraisal of The church already has wheelchair access £840 JNM
St. Mary the Virgin proposed extension and church and a hearing loop. All users need to use Bexley
Church Bexley premises to ensure access for all. the toilets in the church hall, so building

toilets in the main church building would
benefit the whole congregation, including 
worshippers. Despite the church being
accessible, there are very few communities
taking place, besides the odd Summer fair.
The application mentions that there are 110
church users. There are no stats on community
usage or usage by disabled users. This is a
weak application.

Total Making London More Inclusive (6 items) £575,541

Making London Safer

April 2018 14672 To increase reporting of hate crimes by The organisation has no track record of £150,850 JGC
Anti-Tribalism Somalis, and to improve agency delivering in this area of work. The planned Hammersmith &
Movement responses to Somali victims of hate activities are overly ambitious and the Fulham

crime. proposal lacks detail on what would be
delivered.

May 2018 14714 To reduce feelings of fear and The proposal, in any one year, comprises no £77,250 JXM
Faith Matters vulnerability amongst female victims of more than a total of 70 hours' direct, Westminster

anti-Muslim hate crime, empower them face-to-face service with other support
to report such crimes and gain access provided by web/social media. As such, it
to support-services. provides poor value for money and

uncertainty as to how significant outcomes
for Londoners can be achieved.

Total Making London Safer (2 items) £228,100

P
age 97



Grants
Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer
Date         Organisation Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area

Older Londoners

May 2018 14690 Two years salary and activity costs From the information provided, it would £80,381 JNM
Carers FIRST towards a Carer's Support Co-ordinator appear that any funding awarded would be Outside London

supporting unpaid older carers and to top up the contract to deliver carers’
carers of people with dementia, services in Waltham Forest. Your guidance
confusion and memory loss. states that you do not top up statutory

contracts.

May 2018 14722 Part time Project Worker who will work The organisation has negative free £5,356 SD
Lambeth Somali and support older people using a pool reserves. While a small request, it is for Lambeth
Community young volunteers that the right training work with older Londoners - which the
Association of how assist older people organisation has no experience of providing

directly. The rate of pay proposed is below
the London Living Wage.

May 2018 14743 To support the core costs of our The proposed posts and work are too £135,000 JXM
SS. John and Inpatient Unit counteracting increased closley aligned to health care work and as Westminster
Elizabeth Charity expenditure on one-to-one nursing, for such are not a close fit with the outcomes of

which we do not receive any additional your programme "Older Londoners."
NHS funding.

Total Older Londoners (3 items) £220,737

Reducing Poverty

April 2018 14661 To proactively increase specialist This is a poorly presented application and £282,148 JNM
Citizens Advice advice/support in the areas of money, an unrealistic request. The proposed project Havering
Bureaux Havering debt and housing whilst encouraging budget contains unspecified costs. The

volunteer support for the longevity of applicant has low free reserves and a
these advice services. pattern of over-spending.

usually support.

P
age 98



Grants
Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer
Date         Organisation Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area
May 2018 14693 To increase the availability of legal, debt A poorly presented application, with £241,500 KAM

Ealing Equality and benefit advice specifically for conflicting information, where there appears Ealing
Council isolated, low-income, vulnerable BME to be no track record in delivering the

groups with housing& employment service proposed. An over-ambitious
support needs in West London. request for two FTE posts, which you do not

May 2018 14726 To support young people from Proposal is for careers-based employment £99,663 CR
Making The Leap disadvantaged backgrounds by support for young people, which does not Brent

developing their essential skills and meet your criteria.
enabling them to improve their
economic circumstances by progressing
into employment.

May 2018 14604 To employ an Advice Centre The application is primarily to provide £107,887 KAM
Oasis Community Hub Co-ordinator and Administrator to run a money management workshops and debt Lambeth
Waterloo Foodbank and advice centre in advice, however the organisation does not

Waterloo and manage a team of hold a recognised management qualification
volunteers. or advice quality standard. As such, it does

not meet your requirements for this
programme.

Total Reducing Poverty (4 items) £731,198

Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Offenders

May 2018 14716 Food Matters Inside and Out: Food A poorly presented application, which does £113,982 KAM
Good Food Matters activities to support 'through-the-gate' not sufficiently address the priorities of your Outside London

prisoners to aid resettlement, health and Resettlement and Rehabilitation of
wellbeing. Offenders Programme.

Total Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Offenders (1 item) £113,982

P
age 99



Grants
Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer
Date         Organisation Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area
Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector

May 2018 14682 To employ a Capacity Building Officer Organisation has been entirely reliant on £79,821 CR
Croydon BME Forum (CBO) to oversee capacity building, income from statutory sources and which Croydon

leadership training, promotion of now seems to be decreasing, with the result
community cohesion and community that any grant you may make would replace
engagement for Croydon?s BAME funding from statutory sources. Organisation
community organisations. has at least one full year's expenditure in

free reserves.

May 2018 14713 Support 210 voluntary, community and This proposal is to deliver a work-based £260,307 JNM
FAIR TRAIN (GROUP social enterprise organisations to learning training programme to London's Outside London
TRAINING develop, implement and embed voluntary sector to build capacity in
ASSOCIATION) processes which increase their volunteer management. The applicant is a
LIMITED managerial capacity, enhance volunteer training provider for work-based learning. It

recruitment and increase retention is not a London-based, second-tier support
organisation - your preferred recipient of
funds under this programme. The proposal
is unrealistic in its scale and does not
demonstrate a track record in delivering
capacity building in volunteer management.

May 2018 14729 Strengthening our volunteers Organisation is new and unable to provide £5,000 CR
Sen Talk CIC programme to provide essential support one year's full accounts so, therefore, is Wandsworth

and advocacy for children with autism ineligible.
and ADHD to ensure no children fall
through the gaps.

May 2018 14745 To share good practice with Waltham The applicant is not a second-tier £103,500 JXM
Waltham forest Forest's Voluntary Sector, strengthen organisation. Further, it has not Waltham Forest
community hub ltd smaller VCSE organisations and build demonstrated a proven track record in

our capacity to meet the growing delivering high quality training to other
demands of our service. voluntary and community sector

organisations.

Total Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector (4 items) £448,628

Total Investing in Londoners £2,639,362

P
age 100



Grants
Request Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer
Date         Organisation Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area

Bridging Divides

Positive Transitions

June 2018 14904 Building partnerships between The proposal is for education focused work £216,000 CR
Achievement for All independent and maintained schools, in and with schools to achieve educational Outside London
(3As) Ltd providing professional development for outcomes and, as such, does not meet your

teachers and schools and engagement priorities.
with families to improve outcomes for all
children including the most vulnerable
and disadvantaged.

July 2018 14921 To provide an easily accessible, clean & A poorly presented application with £80,000 CR
Give a Dog a Bone UK creatively busy space for local residents incomplete financial information. The bid Enfield
CIC to carry out varying levels of upcycled comprises both capital and revenue - which

arts. you do not usually fund - and is from an
organisation with no recent accounts.

June 2018 14903 Our immediate aim is to extend the Proposal is for both capital to renovate a £86,113 CR
Growbaby Growbaby premises, the Hub, by rented shop and revenue to pay towards the Kingston

knocking through and developing the rental costs - neither of which suitably meets
next door shop, our secondary aim is to your priorities.
cover our rental costs.

May 2018 14886 Empowering young ex-offenders and Proposal is for work with ex-offenders and £80,157 CR
One World Foundation those on mental health rehabilitation with young people with mental health needs, Newham
Africa programmes to make positives changes though the organisation demonstrates no

in their lives. expertise or significant track record in either.

P
age 101



Grants
Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount Officer

Request Date Organisation Recommendation for Rejection Requested & Area

April 2018 14662 We are seeking funding to run a pilot of £150,000 CR
The Age of No The Common Room service in London - Barnet
Retirement CIC to demonstrate the power of

community-rooted intergenerational
reciprocity and human connection.

June 2018 14889 Little Lullaby, a peer-support project that The proposal does not meet your specific £62,109 RG
The Lullaby Trust targets and supports young parents priorities for support. Westminster

aged 25 and under, to reduce isolation
and the risks of Sudden Infant Death
Syndrome (SIDS).

Total Positive Transitions (6 items) £674,379

Total Bridging Divides £674,379

Grand Totals (23 applications under Investing in Londoners + 6 under Bridging Divides) £3,313,741

P
age 102



Committee Dated:

City Bridge Trust 7th September 2018

Subject:
Applications to the Cornerstone Fund, Stage 1

Public

Report of:
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

For Information

Report author:  Jenny Field, Deputy Director of City 
Bridge Trust

Summary

This report advises members of Cornerstone Fund Stage 1 applications approved or 
declined under delegated authority since your last meeting.

Recommendation

Members are asked to:

 Receive this report and note its contents

Main Report

The Cornerstone Fund (the additional funding of £3m that was approved to establish 
a strategic fund for civil society infrastructure support, of which £2.8m remains) 
Funders’ Panel1 met on 11th July 2018. You may recall this has a two-stage 
application process. The panel met to discuss the Stage 1 applications and to decide 
which of these should be recommended to receive grants to develop their bid to 
Stage 2.  The applicant will then follow the application process of whichever funder 
(as shown in the table below) considers a particular proposal best aligns with their 
interests.

Jenny Field
Deputy Director of City Bridge Trust
T: 020 7332 3186
E: jenny.field@cityoflondon.gov.uk]

1 comprising representatives from Big Lottery Fund, Trust for London, Mercers Company, John Lyons Charity, 
Cripplegate Foundation, Greater London Authority, London Councils and London Funders

Page 103

Agenda Item 10c

mailto:jenny.field@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 104



City Bridge Trust Cornerstone Fund Stage 1
Grants approved by Delegated Authority – 7th September 2018

Ref &           Recommended     Project Description Expressed interest in receiving Stage 2
Organisation  Amount application

Anniversary Programme
14842 £20,000.00      £20,000 towards staffing and associated City Bridge Trust
British Refugee     running costs to explore the development of
Council     a pan-London forum to enable Refugee

    Community Organisations to directly
    influence the bodies whose policies,
    practices and strategies impact the lives of
    refugees and asylum seekers.

14837 £19,930.00     £19,130 towards the research, consultation City Bridge Trust
Community Links    and development costs of a project to
Bromley    enable communities to be better engaged

   with health and care commissioning,
   resulting in better health and wellbeing
   outcomes for London’s communities.

14819 £20,000.00    £20,000 towards staff costs and associated City Bridge Trust
H4All Community    running costs to test out how to support civil
Interest Company    society organisations in LB Hillingdon to

   deliver improved health and wellbeing
   outcomes for its diverse communities.

14839 £20,000.00    £20,000 towards the salary costs of HEAR Big Lottery Fund
HEAR Equality and    and four of the collaborating organisations,
Human Rights    together with the associated running costs
Network    of a project to test the use of innovative,

   accessible digital means to enable
   equality-focussed grassroots organisations
   to make connections across the voluntary,
   public and private sectors.

P
age 105



Ref &           Recommended     Project Description Expressed interest in receiving Stage 2
Organisation  Amount application

14847 £17,000.00      £17,000 towards the co-design and testing City Bridge Trust
Kingston Voluntary     of a project to build data literacy and digital
Action     skills in small local charities and community

    groups.

14840 £0      No development grant required. Straight to John Lyon’s Charity
London Village     stage 2: £20,000 to join up youth services
Network     so that disadvantaged young people know

    where and how to go for provision and
    support; to reduce inequality by helping to
    create a more collaborative society.

14841 £5,050.00      £5,050 towards staff costs to scope out the City Bridge Trust
Migrants Rights     proposed project (£2,050) and to secure
Network     legal opinion on safeguarding voices

    (£3,000).

14831 £18,500.00      £18,500 towards a pilot of different City Bridge Trust + possible contribution from
Partnership for Young     approaches to how young people can use John Lyon’s Charity
London     research methods and data to bring about

    systems change.

14821 £19,400.00 £19,400 towards a Project Manager, City Bridge Trust
Race On The Agenda associated overheads and workshops and

events of a pilot seeking to address the
communication and media support needs of
BAMER organisations in London.

14848 £17,425.00 £17,425 towards a project to test how social Trust for London
Sheila McKechnie change systems can be more inclusive of
Foundation under-represented voices.

P
age 106



Ref &           Recommended     Project Description Expressed interest in receiving Stage 2
Organisation  Amount application

14846 £19,150.00      £19,150 to test and further develop a Big Lottery Fund
The Winch     community-led, systems change approach Trust for London

    at a hyperlocal level on the Chalcot’s Estate.

Total Anniversary £176,455.00
Programme (11 items)

Grand Totals    £176,455.00 (11 items)

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 108



CBT Cornerstone Fund Declined by Delegated Authority
Request Status is 'Declined'

Summary of Declined Applications - Cornerstone Fund
 Grants

Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount  Officer
Organisation Rejection Requested  & Area

Anniversary Programme

14843 Devising a partnership plan to upskill This application was not as strong as others £16,094 JF
Age UK London older peoples? organisations and create submitted in this round. Camden

lifetime neighbourhoods leading to
older Londoners co-producing
campaigns for real change, better
services and truly viewed as community
assets.

14835 To develop and nurture Generous This application was not as strong as others £10,367 JF
Barking & Dagenham Leaders to work on collaborative submitted in this round. Barking &
Council for Voluntary projects locally, and in so doing promote Dagenham
Service shared goals, and their own

organisational sustainability

14836 Create a pan-London approach to This application was not as strong as others £19,580 JF
Community Barnet improve community mental wellbeing submitted in this round. Barnet

called Moodboosting which will
strengthen and create resilient
communities, and ultimately reduce
demand on acute health and social care
services- £19580

P
age 109



 Grants
Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount  Officer
Organisation Rejection Requested  & Area

14820 We want to revive Hackney Giving by Not a close enough fit with the priorities of £19,751 JF
Hackney Council for developing new donor relationships with the Cornerstone Fund. Hackney
Voluntary Service local businesses, hosting Hackney

Giving Live events and exploring the
potential of utilising local fundraising
volunteers.

14830 To develop local Community Resilience This application was not as strong as others £19,513 JF
Hackney Council for models which support a public health submitted in this round. Hackney
Voluntary Service approach to tackling youth

violence/disenfranchisement focusing
on the assets within young people,
parents/carers and grassroots
organisations.

14844 LICS will result in a fairer, more This application was not as strong as others £20,000 JF
Islington Law Centre humanely administered, less erroneous submitted in this round. Islington

benefits system, and enable people to
assert their rights, receive entitlements,
improve income, and boost their health
and well-being.

14838 Developing a strong evidenced Not a close enough fit with the priorities of £18,000 JF
LGBT Consortium business-case for a community-hub the Cornerstone Fund. Outside London

serving diverse and intersecting LGBT
communities across London.

P
age 110



 Grants
Ref & Purpose Reason for Amount  Officer
Organisation Rejection Requested  & Area

14822 Healthy Cooking & Life Skill Activities Not a close enough fit with the priorities of £19,062 JF
ROYALS Youth for young people and 8-14 including the Cornerstone Fund. Havering
Centre some parents. We are requesting 

£19062 for our project

14834 Using data from multiple sources as the This application was not as strong as others £19,741 JF
Women's Resource evidence base, this co-produced social submitted in this round. Islington
Centre change leadership programme will

enable stronger voices and engagement
with and for BAME women in London.
Requesting £19741.

14829 YBF is requesting £14,989 to develop This application was not as strong as others £14,989 JF
Young Brent an innovative enterprise learning and submitted in this round. Brent
Foundation support programme for the grassroots

youth sector in Brent (with the potential
for subsequent roll-out further afield in
London).

Total Anniversary Programme (10 items) £177,097

Grand Totals (10 items) £177,097

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 112



Committee Dated:

City Bridge Trust 7th September 2018

Subject:
Funds approved under delegated authority

Public

Report of:
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

For Information

Report author:  Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants 
Officer

Summary

This report advises members of funds approved under delegated authority since 
your last meeting.

Recommendation

Members are asked to:

 Receive this report and note its contents

Main Report

Following the approval of the Court of Common Council on 16th October 2014, the 
Chief Grants Officer may make decisions on applications of up to £10,000. Decisions 
on applications of over £10,000 and up to £25,000 may be approved by the Chief 
Grants Officer in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman. 

Decisions on applications of over £25,000 and up to £50,000 may be approved by 
the Chief Grants Officer in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, 
with reference to the Chamberlain.

The total amount of expenditure and number of items approved under delegated 
authority this financial year (inclusive of those below) are shown in Table 1.

Requests <£10K

Young Futures CIC
(Approved 6/7/18)

£2,800 (7 days x £400 per day) to provide an eco-
audit.

Page 113

Agenda Item 10d



Requests £10K - £25K

Charity Tax Group
(Approved 12/6/18)

£20,000 to Charity Tax Group Ltd towards the 
costs of research on the value of VAT reliefs for 
charities in the context of Brexit.

Requests £25K - £50K

Whizz-Kidz
(Approved 19/6/18)

£48,800 over two years (£24,400; £24,400) 
towards the Fair Chance in Sport programme in 
London. 

Table 1 – Funds approved under delegated authority in financial year to date.

Ciaran Rafferty
Principal Grants Officer
T: 020 7332 3186
E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk]

Applications 
reported to 
Committee

< £10k 
 

£10k - £25k
 

£25k - £50k

 £ No. £ No. £ No.
May 2018 7,966 4 0 0 0 0
July 2018 12,520 5 0 0 29,720 1
September 2018 2,800 1 20,000 1 £48,800 1
Total for year 
to date 23,286 10 20,000 1 78,520 2

Page 114

mailto:ciran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Committee Dated:

City Bridge Trust 7th September 2018

Subject:
Withdrawn & Lapsed applications

Public

Report of:
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

For Information

Report author:  Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants Officer

Summary

This report informs Members of applications received which subsequently have been 
withdrawn by the applicant or lapsed due to the absence of the information required 
to undertake a full assessment.

Recommendation

Members are asked to:

 Receive this report and note its contents

Main Report

Organisation Purpose of Request

Withdrawn Applications:

Migrant & Refugee Communities 
Forum

To secure stable organisational infrastructure, 
improve access to mental health services for 
migrants and refugees and scale-up support to 
community organisations in managing volunteers. 

- The application is for core funding. The applicant 
therefore opted to withdraw and submit an 
application to Bridging Divides. 

Page 115

Agenda Item 10e



Brent Play Association To increase the opportunities for young people 
with disabilities to participate in a range of 
activities and opportunities designed to help them 
reach their fullest potential.

- The applicant organisation is ineligible for your 
Small Grants programme, as its annual income is 
consistently well in excess of £75,000. The 
applicant withdrew their application so that they 
could consider applying to one of the main 
Bridging Divides programmes.

Walworth Garden Farm To support our Horticultural training programme.

- The applicant has withdrawn their application in 
order to submit a bid under Bridging Divides.

Bonny Downs Community 
Association

To provide exercise, social and creative activities; 
advocacy and a new day centre for vulnerable 
elders aged 75+ in Newham. 

- The applicant decided to withdraw as their 
request is a better fit for Bridging Divides. 

Link Age Southwark Connecting older people with communities 
through befriending, exercise and activity groups, 
transport, and information services.

- The applicant withdrew their application in order 
to submit an application to Bridging Divides. 

Share Community Funding of our Outreach and Wellbeing Manager 
to oversee delivery of a programme of arts, sports 
and independence activities for disabled people 
from SW London.

- The applicant decided to withdraw with a view to 
submitting an application to Bridging Divides. 

The Listening Place To help fund the cost of additional space needed 
to provide a safe haven from which to provide on-
going support to people with suicidal feelings.

- The applicant decided to withdraw their 
application in order to make a more suitable 
application at a later date.

Page 116



The Woodfield Project Three-year funding for a full-time manager to 
coordinate the activities and bookings at the site, 
oversee the volunteers, promote the facilities and 
help with fundraising.

 - The applicant opted to withdraw, with a view to 
re-applying once the organisation is in a position 
to show annual income.

Acton Play Projects and Leisure 
Events

The Kitchen and Garden Project - funding the 
gardening sessions with children and young 
people to grow vegetables and fruit for the 
homemade meals prepared at the open access, 
drop-in sessions.

- The applicant organisation is ineligible for your 
Small Grants programme as its annual income 
exceeds £75,000. The applicant decided to 
withdraw in order to consider applying to one of 
your main grants programmes.

Lapsed Applications

Harrow Foodbank Harrow Foodbank provides food parcels for 
people in crisis and signposts them to additional 
services in order to help address their longer-term 
needs

- Despite reminders from your Officer, financial 
information required was not received.

Withdrawn Applications: 9
Lapsed Applications: 1

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 118



Committee Dated:

City Bridge Trust 7th September 2018

Subject:
Variations to grants/funds awarded

Public

Report of:
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

For Information

Report author: Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants 
Officer

Summary

This report informs Members of those grants where a variation has been agreed by 
the Chief Grants Officer since your last meeting.

Recommendation
Members are asked to:

 Receive this report and note its contents

Main Report

Since your last meeting, variation to the grants outlined below (totalling £150,001) 
have been agreed by the Chief Grants Officer, in line with the revised delegated 
procedure for the amendment of grants as agreed by your Committee in October 
2004.

Refuge
In January 2016 a grant of £84,600 over three years was awarded to Refuge 
towards part-time salaries of 2 child support workers in Lewisham. Two years of 
payments totalling £55,800 have been made although an underspend was achieved 
as there had been significant vacancies throughout. The project had also fallen short 
of its intended outputs and outcomes. In the end your funding was terminated and a 
balance of £42,451 (including the underspend) revoked.

Widehorizons Outdoor Education Trust
You awarded the above £122,500 over three years in November 2017 towards a f/t 
post and associated costs. The grant was conditional on confirmation of a revised 
loan agreement the organisation sought with the local authority. The condition was 
met and the grant commenced. However in July 2018 the organisation informed the 
Trust that the local authority had withdrawn its support and that it would cease to 
trade at the end of that month. A report for the work done to then with your funds has 
been received and the balance of the grant - £101,050 – revoked.

Page 119

Agenda Item 10f



Age UK London
In July 2016 £113,200 was awarded for three years for some posts and project 
costs. Of thee, a sum of £1,500 earmarked for evaluation in year 1 was unused and 
has now been revoked.

South London Theatre Buildings Preservation Trust
A grant of £5,000 for an access audit was approved in September 2014. The actual 
cost of the audit came in at £1,800 meaning that the balance of £3,200 was revoked.

Fulham Good Neighbours
£2,400 was awarded in September 2016 for an eco-audit of which £400 was not 
needed and has been revoked.

Bonny Downs Community Association
£3,000 was awarded for an eco-audit for which there was an underspend of £600, 
which has now been revoked.

Age Exchange Theatre Trust
From the £2,400 awarded for an eco-audit the £400 for contingency has not been 
needed and has now been revoked.

Vine United Reformed Church
£400 of the £2,400 awarded for an eco-audit has not been required and so has been 
revoked.

Ciaran Rafferty
Principal Grants Officer
020 7332 3186
ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 120



Committee Dated: 

City Bridge Trust 7th September 2018

Subject:
Strategic Initiatives – monitoring reports

Public

Report of:
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

For Information

Report author:  Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants 
Officer

Summary

This report introduces monitoring reports provided by two of your current 
Strategic Initiatives and sets out a schedule for future reports through to 
your meeting in May 2019.

Recommendation
Members are asked to:

a) Receive this report and note its contents
b) Consider the list of Initiatives at Appendix A with a view to nominating 

those where they would like to see a report at a future Committee.

Main Report

1. You have asked to receive reports on the various Strategic Initiatives 
currently operational. These are in addition to the reports you receive 
from learning visits to organisations funded through your standard 
programmes – which are elsewhere in your papers. 

2. Two reports follow: one on the grant to Hampstead Heath Charitable 
Trust awarded in April 2016; and one on Cranfield Trust for its 
capacity building support to CBT grantees.

3. In addition Appendix A provides a list of those larger Strategic 
Initiatives (ie grants of £50,000 or more) which are due to report 
within the next 8 months and the relevant Committee which might 
receive those reports. It is assumed that you receive 2 written reports 
at each of your Committees. In some instances a verbal update by 
one of the grantees may be scheduled as part of your regular “guest 
speaker” slots. Members are invited to nominate any particular 
projects on Appendix A for which they would like to see a report.

Ciaran Rafferty, Principal Grants Officer
T: 020 7332 3186    E: ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 121

Agenda Item 10g

mailto:ciaran.rafferty@cityoflondon.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

Ref Name Project Grant Start 
- End

Monitoring 
Report due

Possible 
Report to 
Ctte

13003 Hampstead 
Heath C/Trust

£400k over three years 
for an environmental 
learning programme

April 2016 – 
March 2019

June 2018 Sept – 
included in 
these 
papers

13760 Cranfield Trust £205,100 over 18 mths to 
provide 95 charities with 
support

Jan 2017 – 
June 2018

July 2018 Sept – 
included in 
these 
papers

12776 Heart of the 
City

£287,328 towards costs July 2015 – 
June 2018

July 2018 Sept

14126 Age UK £337,000 over 18 mths 
for the Action Fraud 
project

July 2017 – 
Dec 2018

July 2018 Nov

13494 Habinteg 
Housing Assoc

£311,000 over 5 years for 
the Access Advisory 
Service

July 2016 – 
June 2021

August 2018 Nov

14127 Participatory 
City Foundation

£450,000 over 2 years for 
work in Barking & 
Dagenham

July 2017 – 
July 2019

Sept 2018 Nov

13987 LGBT 
Consortium

£217,000 over 3 years for 
an online mapping tool of 
services for LGBT 
Londoners

Sept 2017 – 
Aug 2020

Sept 2018 Nov

13986 Opening Doors 
London

£165,000 over 3 years to 
develop quality of 
services for older LGBT 
Londoners

Oct 2017 – 
Nov 2020

Sept/Oct 
2018 Nov

13988 GMI 
Partnership

£281,000 over 3 years to 
expand 7 diversify work in 
London

August 2017 
– Feb 2021

Sept 2018 Nov

13726 Mayor’s Fund 
for London

£500,000 over 2 years for 
the Enterprise Advisor 
Programme

Nov 2016 – 
Oct 2018

Nov 2018 Jan 2019

12839 London 
Funders

£172,500 over 3 years to 
develop Hackney, 
Newham & Tower 
Hamlets Giving

Oct 2015 – 
Oct 2018

Nov 2018 Jan 2019

CR Gingerbread £50k for research Nov 2017 – 
July 2018

Nov 2018 Speaking 
at Sept 
Ctte

13259 Legal Education 
Foundation

£320,000 over 3 years for 
Justice First Fellowships 
in London

Jan 2017 – 
Dec 2020

Jan 2019 Spoke at 
Ctte in 
2018

14849 Cranfield Trust £68,400 over 6 months 
for the Strive programme

July 2018 – 
Jan 2019

Jan/Feb 
2019

March 
2019

13055 Human 
Trafficking 
Foundation

£225,000 over 3 years 
towards core costs

Jan 2016 – 
Feb 2019

Mar 2019 May 2019

12990 Barbican 
Centre Trust

£400,000 over 3 years 
towards projects in east 
London 

March 2016 
– March 
2019

March 2019 May 2019

Page 122



HAMPSTEAD HEATH CHARITABLE TRUST
Green Spaces, Learning Places

 
Year 2 Evaluation Report

‘Green Spaces, Learning Places’, the CoL Open Spaces Department’s innovative 
learning programme, contributes to the health and wellbeing of residents of some of 
London’s most deprived communities by connecting them more powerfully to their 
local green spaces.

Since 2016 the Open Spaces Learning Team have delivered a programme which 
supports more Londoners to explore nature, learn about the environment and 
increase their wellbeing through using their local green spaces regularly. We are 
concerned that Londoners are becoming disconnected from the natural world, and 
we know that people in deprived areas of London face more barriers than most to 
accessing nature. Our green spaces are often located near areas of high deprivation 
which makes us uniquely placed to tackle this challenge head on. We create 
engaging opportunities to connect people, particularly from deprived and urban 
communities, more powerfully to their local green space. Our goal is to get people 
outdoors to experience the good feelings and health benefits that we all know come 
from spending time in green spaces. A generous grant from the City Bridge Trust 
has enabled us to deliver our first two years of the programme and will continue to 
support a further year.

The programme focusses on five impact areas which made up our strategic learning 
framework: understanding, confidence, involvement, wellbeing, and connection.  The 
programme delivers: 

- Four innovative community based projects:

 ‘Green Talent’ works with young people furthest from the job market, 
providing opportunities to explore careers in the environmental and green 
spaces sector.

 ‘Wild Schools’ takes a full-school approach with a small number of 
London’s inner city schools, working to embed outdoor learning in West 
Ham Park within the schools’ ethos 

 ‘Wild East’ engages teams of volunteers from the local community, who 
work together to provide exciting mobile events for families in West Ham 
Park and Wanstead Flats – areas of high deprivation.  

 ‘Playing Wild’ addresses barriers to connection with nature through 
targeting families with under-5s through natural play activities on 
Hampstead Heath and Queens Park.

Page 123



- Two reinvigorated school services (Hampstead Heath and Epping Forest): 

 We deliver high quality inspiring booked sessions to a wide range of 
schools across 12 London boroughs at our Epping Forest and 
Hampstead Heath education centres. 

- Two reinvigorated play centres (Hampstead Heath):

 An Open Access Play Centre for under-16 and a play centre for under-
5s and their parents/carers, providing free, facilitated play 
opportunities.  

- A volunteer programme which positions volunteers as a key beneficiary of the 
programmes we run in green spaces.

This innovative three-year learning programme has reached over 82,000 people in 
the first two years of delivery,19% above our 2016-2018 two-year target of 69,604.  
The following graph illustrates the participation figures across the programme.

30,000

16,000

12,000

6,000

2,666

1,500

1,333

101

39

30,636

18,428

20,707

6,473

2,770

1,658

1,233

219

37

0 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000 30,000

Play centre, under-5s 

Play centre, under-16s

Schools service

Wild Schools 

Wild East

School STEM 

Playing Wild

Green Talent

Volunteers

2 year participation 'actual':
2016 - 2018

2 year participation target:
2016 - 2018

Graph to show actual vs target participation data for first two years of the 
Learning Progamme

2016-18 programme highlights include:  

Page 124



 Over 950 school classes have participated in the programme, with 100% of 
participating teachers reporting that their learning outcomes have been met 

 9,886 children who are eligible for pupil premium (an indicator of poverty and 
disadvantage) have participated in our primary school programme

 69% of Green Talent participants reported an increase in their wellbeing

 52% of Wild East event participants were from black and ethnic minority 
groups

 Accreditations - the programme won the 2017 CoL Award for Innovation in 
Equality and Inclusion, and the Green Talent programme is shortlisted for 
the 2018 Horticulture Week Custodian Award for Best Community Initiative

 Learning officers were invited to showcase their work and share their 
expertise at the National Sustainable Schools Conference, London 
Environmental Education Forum and Culture Mile Learning 

 A bespoke evaluation toolkit has been developed in collaboration with the 
University of Derby, the outcomes of which will be shared with the wider 
sector in December 2018. 

The programme champions diversity and inclusion and reaches Londoners of all 
ages, abilities and backgrounds, taking practical steps to welcome and involve 
people through highly quality learning activities. Case studies (provided as an 
appendix) show the value of some of our projects supporting equality, inclusion, 
health and wellbeing, growing cohesive communities and enabling Londoners to 
thrive.  

To conclude, the Green Spaces, Learning Places project has been very successful 
in engaging Londoners with their local green spaces, with 82,000 people benefiting 
over the programme’s first two years. The Open Spaces Learning Team are 
committed to reflecting on their work, and we are particularly excited to have 
developed and launched an evaluation toolkit with the University of Derby.  This 
toolkit will help us learn more about the impact we are making, and we will use this 
learning to ensure we are providing the best service for our communities. 

Page 125



Appendix: ‘Green Spaces, Learning Places’ case studies

Case Study 1 

Growing cohesive communities and supporting equality and inclusion in 
health and wellbeing

The Wild East programme targets communities in Newham, where there are over 
100 languages spoken and  significant numbers of ethnic minorities, including Indian 
(14%), African (12%), Bangladeshi (12%) and Pakistani (10%).  In addition, Newham 
is an area where levels of physical activity are low, the poverty rate is 37%, and self-
reported life satisfaction is below the national average.  

The programme engages people from these  communities to deliver mobile learning 
activities in West Ham Park and Wanstead Flats, which in turn reach more members 
of the community including local family groups.  Activities designed to get people 
moving through the green spaces whilst making observations, sharing knowledge 
and discussing ideas help people to connect to nature in their local green space. For 
both volunteers and the wider participants, the activities enable them to be aware of 
the local open spaces, be physically active, connect socially, learn new skills, make 
a contribution, and spend time outdoors, all of which contribute to improved health 
and wellbeing.  

1. The following map illustrates the areas of deprivation surrounding West Ham 
Park: 

Deprivation statistics for wards surrounding West Ham Park

Page 126



Case Study 2 

Environmental education programmes introducing London’s school students 
to the benefits of green spaces, including those experiencing disadvantage

One of the ways the programme enriches lives and supports young people to reach 
their full potential is via our schools programme, which reaches children growing up 
in poverty and children whose parents do not take them to visit green spaces or 
engage in out-of-school learning activities. 

 “This is my first experience in nature, I have a bond with nature but my mum 
can’t take me to the park” primary school student, Hampstead Heath.  

Analysis of our school data shows that over 20,000 primary school students from 
state schools visited the programme in the first two years, and that 43% of these 
students are eligible for pupil premium, compared to an average of 28.2% across 
London. Pupil premium is allocated to children who have been in receipt of free 
school meals, looked after or adopted from care, and is an indicator of poverty and 
disadvantage.  The attainment gap between disadvantaged pupils and their peers 
has been an ongoing area of concern in education, and our programmes are 
reaching the children who can benefit the most. 

  “In England a child’s socio-economic status is the best predictor of their 
educational attainment….. this disproportionate lack of qualifications among 
disadvantaged young people has a substantial impact on every aspect of their 
future, from employment and pay to health and happiness” Report for the 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation.

The programme enables children to solve problems, be creative and work as a team 
– elements which build their confidence as learners – whilst showing them the 
relevance and application of their knowledge and skills in the wider world, raising 
their aspirations and supporting them to reach their full potential.  

Case Study 3

 Enabling young people to thrive, especially those experiencing 
disadvantage and marginalisation.

Bespoke and in-depth talent and skill building programmes are offered through our 
Green Talent project, which targets young people who are furthest from education or 
employment, providing facilitated opportunities for participants to reflect on and build 
skills relevant to their career aspirations.  The programme reaches out to and 
engages students in Pupil Referral Units who have struggled within formal education 

Page 127



settings and young people who have been unemployed long-term (NEET). This 
programme enables participants to recognise and develop their individual talents and 
skills, and to explore careers in the environmental and green space sector, including 
conservation, leisure and education. 

Comments from our Green Talent participants show how the programme has 
boosted their confidence and broadened their skills, knowledge and horizons - both 
of which are key to enabling people to expand their career and life opportunities: 

 “The work experience placement really boosted my confidence, I 
really enjoyed being able to do lots of different activities.  I found the 
whole thing very motivational and calming”

 “The work experience was truly eye-opening into the reality of work 
and how work opportunities can vary.  I am not limited to select a few 
occupations”

The programme includes long term supported work experience placements, and the 
young people participating in this programme has told us that the impact has been 
high.  The outcome stars diagram below illustrates the change in young people’s 
self-reported perception from the beginning to the end of the programme (on a 0 – 5 
scales where 1 = very low level and 5 = high level).  The diagram illustrates a 
marked increase in confidence, from 2.2 to 4.8, and a sense of involvement from 2.2 
to 4.4.

Enjoyment

Environmental 
Knowledge

Understanding

Confidence

Involvement

Making a Difference

Wellbeing

Connection

0
0.5

1
1.5

2
2.5

3
3.5

4
4.5

5

Before
After

Long term placement Outcomes

Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Committee Dated: 

City Bridge Trust 7th September 2018

Subject:
Report on Learning visits

Public

Report of:
Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

For Information

Report author: Jemma Grieve Combes, Grants Officer

Summary

This report introduces learning visit reports for Oasis Children’s Venture and 
Voluntary Action Harrow.

Recommendation

Members are asked to:

 Receive this report and note its contents

Main Report

1. You receive Learning visit reports at each of your meetings. These 
are in addition to more substantial bi-annual monitoring reports 
examining patterns of funding and benefit of grants awarded. 

2. The reports to this Committee are from visits to:

a. Oasis Children’s Venture supported under your programme for 
“Improving Londoner’s Environment” to deliver a ‘Green 
Prescription’ programme for children and young people.

b. Voluntary Action Harrow under your programme 
“Strengthening London’s Voluntary Sector” to provide 
monitoring, evaluation and impact support to local voluntary 
organisations.

3. You may notice that today’s reports are in a new format.  Grants 
officers are trialling this format for greater consistency and to facilitate 
better sharing of learning.  Reports in the old format will continue to 
be reported to committee during the transition to the new style.

Jemma Grieve Combes
Grants Officer (Monitoring and Evaluation)
T: 020 7332 3174
E: jemma.grievecombes@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 141

Agenda Item 10h

mailto:jemma.grievecombes@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142



1

LEARNING VISIT REPORT
Oasis Children's Venture 13968

1.1 Date of visit:
10/07/18

1.2 Name of visiting 
Grants Officer: 
Kate Moralee 

1.3 People met with:
JB and KN (environmental 
playworker)

1.4 Programme Area & Outcomes: Improving London's Environment
More people reporting improved wellbeing through greater use of open spaces and 
through growing and greening initiatives; More Londoners with a greater knowledge 
and understanding of the 'green' environment and biodiversity
1.5 Purpose of the award: £105,000 over 3 years towards a Green Prescription 
Programme for children and young people.
Grant start date: 01/09/17 Grant end date: 01/09/20

MONITORING INFORMATION
2.1 Project Outcome 1: Londoners will have improved understanding and 
appreciation of the environment/local wildlife and develop improved outdoor 
confidence.
2.2 Project Outcome 2: Londoners will have improved physical well-being through 
being next to nature.
2.3 Project Outcome 3: Children and Young people will better understand the 
importance of food growing and its importance to healthy eating.
2.4 Project Outcome 4: Londoners will have improved emotional well-being and 
experience reduced isolation through being next to nature.

Progress made: In the first 10 months of the grant the organisation has delivered 76 
after school learning sessions to 129 children; 45 under 5s sessions and 
parent/carer sessions to 32 adults and 52 children; 38 Saturday community sessions 
to 46 adults and 67 children and 5 community events with 198 attendees. 

An outcomes star is used with children who access the after-school service to 
measure their development.  Each point on the star relates to a different aspect of 
wellbeing. The organisation has also implemented a Buddy Award Scheme where 
children are awarded buddy privileges when they have demonstrated specific skills 
or knowledge related to nature, food and food growing etc. Children with Buddy 
Awards can become peer champions. The organisation has not had the capacity to 
analyse the data to date due to an organisational restructure, however this 
information will be presented in the end of year report. 
2.5 Project Outcome 5: Londoners have increased decision making opportunities 
through developing and leading environmental activities and being actively involved 
in project planning and delivery
Progress made:
Attendees at some of the sessions are involved in planning the content and children 
who achieve Buddy Awards are champions for other children who attend activities. 

Page 143



2

GRANT OFFICER COMMENTS
Your officer met with one postholder being funded by the grant, the CEO of the 
organisation, and some adults and children accessing the parent/carer sessions at 
the Nature Garden. 

1. Impact: The project has suffered somewhat due to difficulties fundraising for 
the organisation’s core costs.  Although this has not directly affected the 
delivery of this project it has impacted on the overall management of the 
Nature Garden, including the capacity to market this project and the collection 
and analysis of data. 

The project is successfully reaching a wide section of the local community.  It 
is having a significant impact on children and young people’s overall wellbeing 
by giving them a connection with and building their understanding of the 
natural environment.  It has improved their skills and knowledge of nature and 
what to do in the outdoors e.g. foraging, recognising plants, the benefit of 
green spaces etc. There could also be a longer-term impact in that children 
will carry this knowledge and care for the environment into the future. 

2. Learning: The organisation has identified the need to plan the Family 
Saturday Sessions but remain flexible and responsive to the needs and 
wishes of the families who attend. It has learned which sessions are working 
well and which require more planning and marketing, including building local 
networks. 

3. Knowledge: this organisation has found that securing income to cover 
organisational infrastructure posts is difficult in the current challenging climate.  
This has a knock-on impact for the quality of direct delivery. There is an 
increasing need to work in partnership with other organisations with similar 
aims and objectives, which requires significant input from infrastructure staff. 

4. Total assets: The organisation asked if CBT could support access to 
corporate organisations with a view to securing some volunteering and 
potential longer-term relationships. 

Page 144



1

LEARNING VISIT REPORT
Voluntary Action Harrow 13191

1.1 Date of visit: 15/04/18 1.2 Name of visiting 
Grants Officer: Jemma 
Grieve Combes 

1.3 People met with: AB

1.4 Programme Area & Outcomes: Strengthening London's Voluntary Sector
More organisations with improved capabilities in monitoring, evaluation and impact 
reporting
1.5 Purpose of the award:
£85,200 towards the salary of a part-time Monitoring, Evaluation and Impact 
Development Manager and project running costs.
Grant start date: 01/10/16 Grant end date: 01/10/19

MONITORING INFORMATION
2.1 Project Outcome 1: At least 80% of groups will have improved knowledge, skills 
and resources to design and implement monitoring, evaluation and impact reporting 
systems.
2.2 Project Outcome 2: At least 80% of groups will have increased their confidence 
and ability to implement monitoring, evaluation and impact reporting systems.

Progress made:  In the first 1.5 years of the grant the organisation has delivered:
 Tailored 1-2-1 support and advice to 35 groups covering aspects such as 

monitoring frameworks, evaluations and focus groups.
 Quarterly half day training sessions (plus an extra 3 in year 2) covering topics 

including theory of change, needs assessment, and monitoring and evaluation 
for grant applications.

 Ad hoc phone, email and online support to over 30 organisations

100% of organisations have reported an increase in knowledge and confidence has 
demonstrably grown.  For example, after being supported to design a feedback form 
for one project, a group had the confidence to design their own for other projects.  
This has reinforced their confidence in the work they are carrying out more widely.
2.3 Project Outcome 3: At least 80% of groups will have embedded good practice 
in demonstrating and reporting their performance and social impact.
2.4 Project Outcome 4: At least 80% of groups will be better equipped to implement 
an outcome-based approached in their work and future project design.

Progress made: 70-80% of organisations have reported that they are better able to 
implement monitoring and evaluation.  For example, some groups have set targets 
or SMART objectives.  Embedding good practice can be challenging as it is often 
about change management and using new ways of working.  Good documentation 
and engaging trustees has been important.
2.5 Project Outcome 5: At least 80% of groups will recognise the importance of 
monitoring and evaluating in improving impact and performance.

Progress made: Generally, organisations are keen to improve their monitoring and 
evaluation, but time is a limiting factor.  Funding applications can be a driver, but an 

Page 145



2

important finding has been the internal benefit of better outcome reporting.  It is 
motivating for staff and volunteers to see the difference they are making.  Others 
have been able to use it to improve their external communications.  For example, 
one organisation now includes a line in their email footers ‘what did we do last week’ 
e.g. ‘we helped a client that was suffering from stress at work by providing 
counselling and they have just gone back to work’.

GRANT OFFICER COMMENTS
Your officer met with the post-holder funded by the grant at the organisation’s offices 
in Harrow.  The offices are shared with other local organisations which has been 
beneficial for joint working.

1. Impact: Voluntary Action Harrow is an interesting organisation.  Their 
cooperative legal structure gives a sense of shared ownership that shows 
through the dedication to their work.  The postholder met with was clearly both 
very knowledgeable and passionate about monitoring and evaluation.  Work 
delivered to date has had a positive impact on the groups that have taken part 
and 121 advice has been particularly effective.  Training sessions have had the 
unexpected outcomes of creating networking opportunities that have led to 
collaborations and of providing respite to staff from day-to-day operations.  

The organisation has recently become a grant administrator for a local fund.  
Rather than change their relationship with local organisations they have found 
this to be a helpful process for working with organisations, particularly smaller 
groups, to improve their monitoring and evaluation systems.

2. Learning: The organisation works with many small groups run by volunteers.  
Training has had to be flexible to meet their needs.  For example, advice to a 
walking group was provided during a walk, and they are looking at the possibility 
of out of hours training sessions.  They have identified that some groups struggle 
with using technology though this is often more about confidence than skills.

3. Knowledge: GDPR has had a massive impact on groups locally who are worried 
about complying with the new legislation.  Health and safety and safeguarding 
are of similar concern to organisations.  There appears to be an emerging gap 
locally in meeting staff and volunteer CPD needs, particularly around advice as 
organisations’ lack training resource.  This is accompanied by an increase in 
demand and cut in resource causing stress within teams.

4. Total assets: there is value in bringing organisations working on similar themes 
together, but it needs to be purposeful.

Page 146



Committee Dated:

City Bridge Trust Committee 7 September 2018

Subject:
City Bridge Trust Communications & Events attended

Public

Report of:
The Chief Grants Officer & Director of City Bridge Trust 
(CGO)

Report author:
Martin Hall, Communications Manager

For Information

Summary

This paper provides members with an update on the communications work of the 
City Bridge Trust (CBT).

Recommendation

Members are asked to:
 Receive the report and note its contents.

Main Report

Key Audience Group Reporting

1. Appendix 1 reports communications activity between 21/06/18 and 22/08/18 
against each of the four key audiences identified in your Communications 
Strategy. This shows continued good levels of engagement against all four 
audiences.

2. With regards to the Regulators & Politicians audience, the government’s Civil 
Society Strategy (previously mentioned in the Chief Officer’s Progress Report) 
included several references to work of the Trust, largely in relation to the 
response to Grenfell as part of a coalition of funders. In addition, your 
Cornerstone Fund is referred to as an example of good cross-sector working.  
There was considerable social media activity around the Strategy, some of 
which made reference to the Trust.

Media Activity 

3. Appendix 2 provides a detailed breakdown of the media activity supporting 
delivery of your Communications Strategy during this period, led by Kristina 
Drake, City of London Media Officer.  A number of recent grants awarded by 
the Trust were the subject of media coverage, including Stepney City Farm, 
Age UK Bexley and Ealing CVS. 

Page 147

Agenda Item 10i



4. In addition, Chairman Alison Gowman was interviewed twice by BBC London 
Radio discussing projects seeking to help young people into long-term 
sustainable employment: firstly in relation to your Bridge To Work programme 
working with disabled Londoners; and secondly in relation to your recent grant 
to Key4Life helping ex-offenders into work. 

External Events Register

5. Officers and Members attended a range of events and meetings on behalf of 
the Trust during this period, involving fellow funders, civil society 
organisations and government. However, the total number of events attended 
is slightly lower than previous reports due to the summer holidays, with very 
few events attended since the beginning of August. 

6. A full list of external events attended by officers and Members on behalf of the 
Trust can be found at Appendix 3. 

Martin Hall
Communications Manager
T: 020 7332 3705
E: Martin.hall@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 148

mailto:Martin.hall@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix 1: Key Audience Groups

Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 
channels

Online content

Londoners All recent events were attended by Londoners. A full list 
can be found in the External Events table report 
(Appendix 3).

 BBC Radio London 
 Bexley Times
 City Matters
 Croydon Citizen
 East London Advertiser
 Ian Visits
 Islington Gazette
 Keep The Faith
 London Live
 London Post
 The Guardian
 The Voice

CBT Twitter:
 6,054 followers 

(up by 228 since 
last meeting)

 115.5K 
impressions* 
between 21/06/18 
& 22/08/18

CBT Website:
 6,664 users
 10,461 sessions

Regulators & 
politicians

 Charity Tax Group Committee meeting
 Dept for International Development Global Disability 

Forum
 GLA small grants panel

 FE News  Civil Society 
Strategy

P
age 149



Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 
channels

Online content

Immediate 
stakeholders**

 Queen Elizabeth II Diamond Jubilee Trust Award 
ceremony

 Trust for London summer party
 Leathersellers' Livery Company reception 
 One Westminster Funders’ Fair
 The Way Ahead conference
 LGBT Consortium event
 New Philanthropy Capital reception
 NCVO dinner
 Richmond CVS Meet the Funders event
 Adfam launch
 Islington Giving Funders Panel
 Big Society Capital reception
 Crosslight learning visit
 Bridge to Work network meeting
 GLA Small Grants panel
 Mercers Company lunch

 Charity Times
 Charity Today
 City Matters
 Philanthropy News Digest

 News items on the 
CoL intranet and e-
bulletin. 

 Regular updates in 
the Members’ 
Briefing.

P
age 150



Audience Face to face Online and Printed Media 
channels

Online content

Other funders, 
policy makers 
& key 
commentators

 Trust for London summer party
 Islington Giving training
 The Way Ahead conference
 London Funders City walk
 New Philanthropy Capital reception
 ACF meeting 
 UBS seminar
 NCVO dinner & meeting
 Islington Giving Funders Panel
 National Lottery reception
 London Funders Children & Young People’s Group
 Trust for London Moving on Up Advisory Group
 Civil Society Futures events
 UnLtd & London Citizens discussion group
 Lunch & meeting with Big Lottery Fund
 Mercers Company lunch

 Charity Times
 Charity Today
 Civil Society
 FE News
 Impact Alpha
 Philanthropy News Digest

n/a

* An Impression is the number of times CBT tweets have been delivered to other accounts and potentially viewed.

** Includes CBT & CoL Officers & Members; key infrastructure bodies; grantees; potential grantees; City leaders, workers, 
Human Resource and Corporate Social Responsibility professionals.

P
age 151



Appendix 2: Media Coverage
21st April – 22nd August 2018

Organisation / 
Topic

Publication &
Weblink

Readership 
/ Audience

Detail Coverage Date

Young Londoners 
Fund

FE News 10,089 Chairman Alison Gowman is quoted in an article 
about your £1m grant to the Mayor of London’s 
‘Young Londoners Fund’ to support vulnerable 
young people.

Trade 21/06/18

Social enterprise Impact Alpha - The Trust & City of London Corporation is 
mentioned in a story about the HCT Group raising 
additional finance. 

Trade 25/06/18

BAME 
organisations

The Voice 58,334 Story about the Trust’s £100k grant to boost 
London’s BAME organisations. Chairman Alison 
Gowman is quoted. 

Trade 04/07/18

Black Training and 
Enterprise Group 
(BTEG)

Islington Gazette 28,194 The Trust is mentioned following a £110,000 grant 
this organisation to train smaller BAME 
organisations to work collaboratively.

Regional 13/07/18

Bridge To Work BBC Radio London 
(link no longer 
available)

37.8m Chairman Alison Gowman is interviewed about 
progress of this programme, supporting young 
disabled Londoners into work, one-year in. 

London 16/07/18

Charity governance Charity Times 30,000 Opinion piece by Chairman Alison Gowman on the 
importance of good governance.

Trade 16/07/18

Investing in 
Londoners

Charity Today 50,000 An article on the latest round of grants to tackle 
inequality in London, totalling £3.3m. Chairman 
Alison Gowman is quoted. 

Trade 16/07/18

Investing in 
Londoners

London Post. - As above. London 16/07/18

P
age 152

https://www.fenews.co.uk/press-releases/17690-city-corporation-and-mayor-of-london-team-up-for-young-londoners-future
http://www.voice-online.co.uk/article/%C2%A3100k-grant-boost-london%E2%80%99s-bame-organisations
https://article.signalmedia.co/3dd4a8a5-0372-3d98-8ebf-ff5c2d407e36?secondary=true&u=fa7a07bf-0043-4d22-bd67-f58aeaa5e37d&origin=alert
http://www.charitytimes.com/ct/opinion-if-your-charity-wants-to-change-lives-it-needs-some-order.php
https://www.charitytoday.co.uk/london-funder-awards-over-3-3m-to-33-charities-tackling-inequality/
https://london-post.co.uk/city-bridge-trust-awarded-grants-totalling-3-3-million-33-charities-tackling-inequality/


Organisation / 
Topic

Publication &
Weblink

Readership 
/ Audience

Detail Coverage Date

Moving on Up Voice Online 58,334 The Trust’s support for the Moving on Up project is 
mentioned in an article about a new study looking 
at the diversity of the City’s finance sector 
workforce.

Trade 18/07/18

Stepping Stones 
Fund

Charity Times 30,000 The Trust’s Stepping Stones Fund was announced 
as having been shortlisted for a Charity Times 
award under the Social Investment Initiative 
category. 

Trade 20/07/18

Roots and Shoots FE news 10,089 An article on the Trust’s grant for an educational 
environmental programme for Londoners. 
Chairman Alison Gowman is quoted.

Trade 20/07/18

Age UK Bexley Charity Today 50,000 A piece about the Trust awarding £90,300 for a 
Men in Sheds programme. Chairman Alison 
Gowman is quoted.

Trade 26/07/18

The Reader Croydon Citizen - A story on a recent grant to improve wellbeing, 
build community and reduce the social isolation of 
the older people in the borough, through the 
delivery of ‘Shared Reading’ groups.

Regional 27/07/18

Moving on Up Keep The Faith - As above. Trade 27/07/18

Age UK Bexley Bexley Times 15,659 As above. Local 27/07/18

Stop The Traffik London Live - Chairman Alison Gowman took part in a panel as 
part of an initiative, funded by the Trust, which 
aims to highlight the signs of modern day slavery.

London 01/08/18

Roots and Shoots City Matters 20,000 As above. London 01/08/18

P
age 153

http://www.voice-online.co.uk/article/time-city-firms-reach-out-londons-young-black-men
http://www.charitytimes.com/ct/charity-times-awards-2018-shortlist-announced.php
https://www.fenews.co.uk/press-releases/18101-charity-sets-out-to-change-adults-attitude-to-london-s-nature
https://www.charitytoday.co.uk/funding-to-expand-men-in-sheds-scheme-keeping-older-men-from-loneliness/
https://thecroydoncitizen.com/politics-society/readers-shared-reading-groups-come-croydon/
https://www.keepthefaith.co.uk/2018/07/26/time-for-city-firms-to-reach-out-to-londons-young-black-men/
http://www.bexleytimes.co.uk/news/funding-increased-for-bexley-s-age-uk-men-in-sheds-scheme-1-5625416
http://www.londonlive.co.uk/news/2018-07-30/londoners-taught-to-stop-modern-day-slavery
file://itsetup1/Winstall/File%20Transfer/Morning%20Media%20Briefing/02.08.18/ROOTS%20AND%20SHOOTS.PNG


Organisation / 
Topic

Publication &
Weblink

Readership 
/ Audience

Detail Coverage Date

Stepney City Farm Ian Visits - A report on a grant of £45,600 to help pay for 
staffing salaries over a period of expansion as a 
result of regaining land previously used for 
Crossrail tunnelling works. 

London 09/08/18

Stepney City Farm East London 
Advertiser

6,917 As above. Local 10/08/18

Charity data 
management 

Philanthropy News 
Digest

76,000 A Stepping Stones grant to charity Khulisa is 
referenced in an article about how charities 
manage their data.

Trade 13/08/18

Homelessness 
Strategy

The Guardian 148,169 Chairman Alison Gowman writes a letter to in 
response to the government’s announcement of 
funding to end rough sleeping in England by 2027.

London 15/08/18

Key4Life BBC Radio London 
(starts at 1hr 
16mins)

37.8m Chairman Alison Gowman and Sarah Farrell, 
Fundraising & Operations Manager at Key4Life, 
are interviewed about a £115,000 grant from the 
Trust to boost the organisation’s work with young 
male ex-offenders.

London 17/08/18

Inspiring Impact Civil Society 12,000 A report on a recent Big Lottery Fund grant to this 
organisation references a previous grant from the 
Trust.

Trade 22/08/18

P
age 154

https://www.ianvisits.co.uk/blog/2018/08/08/stepney-city-farm-secures-funding-for-crossrail-recovery/
http://www.eastlondonadvertiser.co.uk/news/city-of-london-corporation-charity-arm-hands-stepney-city-farm-receives-45-000-to-reuse-former-crossrail-site-1-5645534
http://www.eastlondonadvertiser.co.uk/news/city-of-london-corporation-charity-arm-hands-stepney-city-farm-receives-45-000-to-reuse-former-crossrail-site-1-5645534
http://pndblog.typepad.com/pndblog/2018/08/small-charities-are-being-left-behind-by-big-data-for-social-good-initiatives.html
http://pndblog.typepad.com/pndblog/2018/08/small-charities-are-being-left-behind-by-big-data-for-social-good-initiatives.html
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2018/aug/14/home-truths-about-housing-supply-and-demand
https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p06djjzr
https://www.civilsociety.co.uk/news/inspiring-impact-secured-for-next-three-years-by-big-lottery-fund-grant.html


City Bridge Trust Events Attended
21st June – 22nd August 2018

Date Host Organisation Type of Event City of London’s 
Representative Location/Borough Summary

26/06/18 Charity Tax Group Committee meeting Karen Atkinson Westminster Management committee 
meeting.

26/06/18 Queen Elizabeth II 
Diamond Jubilee 
Trust

Award ceremony David Farnsworth SW1 (Buckingham 
Palace)

Event to present The Queen’s 
Young Leaders Awards.

27/06/18 Trust for London Summer Party Alison Gowman, 
David Farnsworth, 
Jenny Field

Sea Containers 
House, SE1

An annual social & 
networking event attended by 
funders & charity figures

28/06/18 Leathersellers' Livery 
Company

Reception Alison Gowman Leathersellers' Hall Annual Charity evening.

03/07/18 Islington Giving Training – for Islington 
Giving Youth Panel

Kate Moralee Camden Attended training session for 
Young Grant Makers 
delivered by Youth Bank 
International.

03/07/18 One Westminster Funders’ Fair Ciaran Rafferty Kensington Town 
Hall

A very well attended event for 
organisations from 
Westminster, Kensington & 
Chelsea and hammersmith & 
Fulham.

03/07/18 The Way Ahead Conference Jenny Field City Hall A conference attended by 
stakeholders involved in the 
Way Ahead, hosted by the 
GLA.

05/07/18 London Funders City walk Jenny Field City of London A networking & social event 
attended by colleagues from 
funders.

P
age 155



Date Host Organisation Type of Event City of London’s 
Representative Location/Borough Summary

05/07/18 Prince's Trust Reception Alison Gowman Lambeth Palace Evening for Prince’s Trust 
Ambassadors.

09/07/18 LGBT Consortium Meeting/Network event Ciaran Rafferty Soho A meeting to hear of progress 
on the LGBT services 
mapping project which you 
are supporting.

09/07/18 New Philanthropy 
Capital

Reception Fiona Rawes SE1 A networking event.

10/07/18 ACF Meeting Alison Gowman Schroders Networking event for Chairs 
of charitable foundations

10/07/18 UBS Seminar and 
networking

Tim Wilson City of London An event highlighting UBS’ 
support to social 
entrepreneurs through its 
partnership with UnLtd.

10/07/18 NCVO Dinner Jenny Field St Barnabus House, 
Soho

Dinner on the topic of what 
funders can do to promote 
good governance.

10/07/2018 Richmond CVS Meet the Funders Shegufta Rahman Richmond Meet the funders event with 
presentation and Q&A

11/07/18 Adfam Launch of 
#stigmamakesmefeel 
campaign

Kate Moralee Westminster Launch of a social media 
campaign – stories from 
people with lived experience. 

16/07/18 NCVO Board meeting & 
Roundtable

Jenny Field NCVO offices A meeting of the NCVO board 
(your officer is a Trustee) and 
meeting of funders.

17/07/18 Islington Giving Funders Panel Kate Moralee Camden Decisions made on grant 
recommendations 

P
age 156



Date Host Organisation Type of Event City of London’s 
Representative Location/Borough Summary

17/07/18 National Lottery Reception Fiona Rawes House of Commons Celebrating the Best of the 
National Lottery

18/07/18 Big Society Capital Summer reception Tim Wilson Kings Cross An opportunity to meet and 
engage with the social 
investment wholesaler’s wider 
network.

18/07/18 London Funders Children & Young 
People’s Group

Ciaran Rafferty King’s Cross A regular interest-group 
meeting

19/07/18 The Prince’s Trust Get Hired! Event Shegufta Rahman Prince’s Trust 
House, City of 
London

Get Hired! Event with multiple 
employers running ‘speed-
dating’ style job interviews

20/07/18 Trust for London Moving on Up Advisory 
Group

Ciaran Rafferty Little Britain First meeting of the Advisory 
Group for the Phase 2 
project.

24/07/18 Dept for International 
Development

Global Disability Forum Ciaran Rafferty, 
James Lee

Olympic Park An interesting event to hear of 
the support for disabled 
people in various countries

24/07/18 Civil Society Futures 
Event

Roundtable David Farnsworth, 
Jenny Field

Guildhall A meeting hosted by the Trust 
attended by funders & sector 
leaders.

24/07/18 Crosslight Learning visit David Farnsworth, 
Alison Gowman

W6 A visit to a CBT grantee 
under your Reducing Poverty 
priority.

25/07/18 UnLtd & London 
Citizens

Discussion group Ciaran Rafferty Whitechapel A meeting of interested 
parties to discuss ways to 
support young people to gain 
citizenship

P
age 157



Date Host Organisation Type of Event City of London’s 
Representative Location/Borough Summary

26/07/18 City Bridge Trust Lunch & meeting Various CBT staff 
members

Basinghall Suite, 
Guildhall

A meeting with colleagues 
from the Big Lottery Fund to 
share ideas & learn about 
each others work.

31/07/18 Civil Society Futures Discussion Jenny Field Paul Hamlyn 
Foundation, WC1

A further meeting involving a 
number of funders.

01/08/18 Trust for London Meeting Ciaran Rafferty Little Britain The first meeting of the 
Advisory Group for the joint 
project to support Disabled-
led organisations.

02/08/18 City Bridge Trust Bridge to Work 
Network meeting

Ciaran Rafferty, 
James Lee, Lily 
Brandhorst

Guildhall A meeting to hear of the 
progress of the Bridge to 
Work projects.

08/08/18 GLA Small Grants panel Ciaran Rafferty City Hall Officers’ panel to consider 
applications for Small Grants 
in the Young Londoners Fund

09/08/18 Mercers Company Lunch David Farnsworth, 
Fiona Rawes

EC1 A lunch meeting with the 
Interim Director of 
Philanthropy and former 
Master Mercer.

P
age 158



Document is Restricted

Page 159

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 163

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 173

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Outstanding Actions
	5 Progress Report
	6 Financial Position of City Bridge Trust in respect of Periods 1-4 (April-July 2018)
	7 Grants Budget and Applications Today
	8 Grants Analysis, Trends and Management
	9 Grants and Strategic Initiatives Recommendations and Assessments
	9a Barnet Refugee Service
	9b Beat
	9c Passage 2000
	9d Bishop Creighton House
	9e Disablement Association Hillingdon (DASH)
	9f icandance
	9g MENCAP Bromley
	9h Ragged School Museum Trust
	9i Age UK Hillingdon
	9j Dementia Concern
	9k Live Music Now!
	9l City Harvest
	9m Hounslow Citizens Advice Bureau
	9n Youth Legal and Resource Centre
	9o Clink Charity
	9p Volunteer Centre Greenwich
	10a Funder Plus Offer - Proposals for Phase 1
	10b Applications Recommended for Rejection
	10c Applications to the Cornerstone Fund, Stage 1
	H+ - Cornerstone Fund Approved by DA
	H++ - Cornerstone Fund Declined

	10d Funds Approved under Delegated Authority
	10e Withdrawn and Lapsed Applications
	10f Variations to Grants/Funds Awarded
	10g Monitoring Reports for Strategic Initiatives
	L+ - Hampstead Heath SI report
	L++ - Cranfield Trust SI report

	10h Report on Learning Visits
	M+ - Learning report - Oasis childrens venture
	M++ - Learning report - Voluntary Action Harrow

	10i City Bridge Trust Communications & Events Attended
	14 Non-Public Minutes
	15 Members' Skills Audit
	16 Pipeline of Pro-Active Strategic Grants

